Scale without conformal invariance in dipolar ferromagnets

Aleix Gimenez-Grau,^{1,*} Yu Nakayama,^{2,†} and Slava Rychkov^{01,‡}

¹Institut des Hautes Études Scientifiques, 91440 Bures-sur-Yvette, France

²Yukawa Institute for Theoretical Physics, Kyoto University, Kitashirakawa Oiwakecho, Sakyo-ku, Kyoto 606-8502, Japan

(Received 3 October 2023; accepted 28 May 2024; published 16 July 2024)

We revisit critical phenomena in isotropic ferromagnets with strong dipolar interactions. The corresponding renormalization group fixed point, dipolar fixed point, was first studied in 1973 by Aharony and Fisher [Phys. Rev. Lett. **30**, 559 (1973]. It is distinct from the Heisenberg fixed point, although the critical exponents are close. On the theoretical side, we discuss scale invariance without conformal invariance realized by this fixed point. We elucidate the nonrenormalization of the virial current due to a shift symmetry, and show that the same mechanism is at work in all other known local fixed points which are scale but not conformal invariant. On the phenomenological side, we discuss the relative strength of dipolar and short-range interactions. In some materials, like the europium compounds, dipolar interactions are strong, and the critical behavior is dipolar. In others, like Fe or Ni, dipolar interactions are weaker, and the Heisenberg critical behavior in a range of temperatures is followed by the dipolar behavior closer to the critical point. Some of these effects have been seen experimentally.

DOI: 10.1103/PhysRevB.110.024421

CONTENTS

I.	INTRODUCTION	1				
II.	I. DIPOLAR FIXED POINT: AHARONY-FISHER					
	THEORY	2				
	A. Manifestly local description	3				
III.	PHENOMENOLOGY AND EXPERIMENTS	4				
	A. Microscopic derivations of effective theory	5				
	B. Experimental evidence of the dipolar					
	fixed-point behavior	6				
IV.	SCALE INVARIANCE WITHOUT					
	CONFORMAL INVARIANCE	6				
	A. Two-point function argument	7				
	B. Stress tensor argument	8				
	C. Virial current dimension and the shift symmetry	8				
	D. Other consequences of shift symmetry	9				
V.	OTHER INTERACTING MODELS WITH					
	SCALE WITHOUT CONFORMAL					
	INVARIANCE	10				
	A. Landau-gauge massless QED in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$	10				
	B. Landau-gauge Banks-Zaks fixed point in $d = 4$	11				
	C. Fixed points not in the Landau gauge	11				
	D. Crystalline membrane theory	12				
	E. Gaussian curvature interaction model	13				
	F. Higher derivative shift-symmetric scalar	14				
VI.	CONCLUSIONS	14				
	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	15				
	APPENDIX A: DEMAGNETIZING FACTOR	15				
	APPENDIX B: EXPERIMENTAL DATA	16				
	1. Amplitude <i>C</i>	16				
	2. Amplitude f^+	17				

APPENDIX C: MICROSCOPIC MODEL				
1. Model				
2. Hubbard-Stratonovich transformation				
3. Comparison to europium compounds				
APPENDIX D: TRACE OF STRESS TENSOR IN				
DIPOLAR MODEL				
1. Basic notation	19			
2. Composite operators	20			
3. Finiteness of stress tensor	21			
4. Building scaling operators	21			
5. Summary	22			
6. Scaling Ward identity	22			
REFERENCES				

I. INTRODUCTION

Most renormalization group fixed points of relevance to physics are conformally invariant. Here we will describe an experimentally observable continuous phase transition that is rotationally, translationally, and scale invariant without being conformal. This exceptional phase transition occurs in isotropic ferromagnets possessing non-negligible dipolar interactions. Standard examples are the europium compounds EuO and EuS. Aharony and Fisher pointed out in 1973 $[1-3]^1$ that the Curie point $T = T_c$ of such magnets is not the usual Heisenberg fixed point, but a different one, possessing slightly different values of critical exponents. The most dramatic difference is that the longitudinal fluctuations of the order parameter are suppressed at this new fixed point. This effect has been experimentally observed using polarized neutron scattering [5].

^{*}Contact author: gimenez@ihes.fr

[†]Contact author: yu.nakayama@yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp

[‡]Contact author: slava@ihes.fr

While most aspects of the physics of dipolar ferromagnets were well understood in the 1970s, the observation that the phase transition is scale without conformal appears to be new (it was first made in [6]). We know of only one other such interacting experimentally relevant example, furnished by the theory of fluctuating membranes, as recently discussed in [7]. Other interacting field theories showing scale without conformal include gauge-fixed versions of gauge theories [8], which have not yet found experimental applications. Noninteracting examples of scale without conformal invariance include the theory of elasticity [9] and the Maxwell theory in five dimensions [10,11]. Holographic constructions of scale invariance without conformal invariance were studied in [12–16].

One issue that arises when discussing scale without conformal invariance in interacting models is the nonrenormalization of the virial current, the vector operator V_i whose divergence appears in the trace of the stress tensor: $T_{ii} = -\partial_i V_i$. The scaling dimension of the virial current should be exactly d - 1. It has been sometimes argued that this makes scale without conformal invariance unlikely since nonconserved currents will generically pick up an anomalous dimension [11,17]. How do dipolar magnets evade this? The reason is a shift symmetry acting on the field U, the Lagrange multiplier enforcing the transverse condition $\partial_i \phi_i = 0$, where ϕ_i is the order parameter and at the same time the shift-symmetry current. The virial current has the form $U\phi_i$, so that it transforms under the shift symmetry into the shift-symmetry current. This relation implies that the scaling dimension of the virial current is protected from loop corrections due to interactions, although the shift-symmetry current does get an anomalous dimension. This argument is one of our main results, first presented in [18].

Furthermore, we show that shift symmetry is also responsible for all previously known interacting theories realizing scale without conformal invariance. A simple way to connect shift symmetry and lack of conformal invariance is as follows. Say the shift symmetry acts on a local operator as $\mathcal{O}(x) \to \mathcal{O}(x) + c$, where *c* is a constant. Dimensional analysis implies that the scaling dimension of the shift current is $\Delta_J = d - 1 - \Delta_O$. However, if J_{μ} is a primary operator, then conservation and conformal invariance would imply the shift current has dimension $\Delta_I = d - 1$, leading to a contradiction. Although there is a workaround for free theories, we conclude that a generic interacting theory can only be scale invariant. Regarding the virial current, we show that there exists an operator of the schematic form $V_{\mu} \sim \mathcal{O}J_{\mu}$ which has dimension exactly $\Delta_V = d - 1$ with no loop corrections even in presence of interactions. In the main text we present these arguments in more detail, and in particular we apply them to the membrane theory of Ref. [7]. Reference [7] previously proved the nonrenormalization of the virial current in the membrane theory, via a different argument which also used a shift symmetry but in a less direct fashion.

In high-energy physics literature, the question of scale invariance vs conformal invariance is usually discussed for unitary theories [19–21]. Everywhere in this paper we work in Euclidean signature, and unitarity is used synonymously with reflection positivity. From a wider field-theoretical perspective, unitarity is not *in itself* a requirement for conformal

invariance. Statistical physics furnishes many experimentally relevant critical theories which lack unitarity and yet are conformal, percolation and self-avoiding walks being two examples. As we will discuss, the dipolar fixed point, as well as all other fixed points realizing scale without conformal invariance with the help of the shift symmetry, are not unitary.

Outline. We start with Sec. II where we introduce dipolar effects in the Heisenberg model, using several equivalent descriptions which are useful later in the paper. After that the reader may proceed along two independent routes:

(1) *Pheno route.* Continue to Sec. III, and the associated Appendixes A–C, where we review experiments that found evidence for dipolar effects in critical ferromagnets, and provide a method to estimate which materials should exhibit important dipolar effects near the fixed point. We hope that this section will stimulate further computations of observable effects in this model, and their experimental studies.

(2) *Theory route.* Skip Sec. III and go directly to Secs. IV and V, and the associated Appendix D. In Sec. IV we argue that the dipolar fixed point is scale but not conformally invariant. We give two arguments: one from the two-point function $\langle \phi_i \phi_j \rangle$, and one from the trace of the stress tensor. The latter argument leads us to explain the nonrenormalization of the virial current, which we do relying on the shift symmetry of the model. We then show in Sec. V that the same arguments with minor modifications apply to all previously known examples of interacting scale but not conformal invariant fixed points.

We conclude in Sec. VI with a summary and some possible future directions.

II. DIPOLAR FIXED POINT: AHARONY-FISHER THEORY

Consider a three-dimensional (3D) isotropic ferromagnet in the vicinity of its Curie temperature. Relation to actual materials will be discussed in Sec. III. Here we write the Landau-Ginzburg-Wilson (LGW) effective Hamiltonian describing fluctuations of the three-component order parameter ϕ_i , i = 1, 2, 3. The usual short-range Hamiltonian is

$$\int d^3x \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_i \phi_j \partial_i \phi_j + \frac{1}{2} m^2 (\phi_i \phi_i) + \frac{\lambda}{4} (\phi_i \phi_i)^2 \right).$$
(2.1)

This Hamiltonian gives rise to a renormalization group fixed point known as the Heisenberg fixed point [or the Wilson-Fisher O(3) fixed point]. This fixed point can be studied using the ε expansion [22],² the numerical conformal bootstrap [25–28], and Monte Carlo simulations (see, e.g., [29]).

However, any realistic 3D ferromagnet in addition to the short-range interactions described by the above Hamiltonian will contain a long-range dipolar interaction term

$$V_{\rm dip} = v \int d^3x \int d^3y \, U_{ij}(x-y)\phi_i(x)\phi_j(y) \,, \qquad (2.2)$$

where

$$U_{ij}(x) = -\partial_{x_i}\partial_{x_j} \frac{1}{|x|} = \frac{\delta_{ij} - 3\hat{x}_i\hat{x}_j}{|x|^3} .$$
(2.3)

²The literature being vast, more references can be found in [23,24].

In momentum space we have

$$V_{\rm dip} = 4\pi v \int \frac{d^3 q}{(2\pi)^3} \frac{q_i q_j}{q^2} \phi_i(q) \phi_j(-q) \,. \tag{2.4}$$

The term V_{dip} appears because the field $\phi(x)$, proportional³ to the coarse-grained magnetization at *x*, generates magnetic field throughout the space, which in turn couples to the field $\phi(y)$. In Sec. II A below we show how (2.2) arises, with a positive coupling *v*, when integrating out the magnetic field.

The symmetry of the LGW Hamiltonian (2.1) was spatial O(3) times internal O(3). The dipolar interaction breaks this symmetry to the diagonal subgroup O(3), under which ϕ_i transforms as a vector.⁴

As mentioned, the term (2.2) will always be there for any material because we cannot turn off the Maxwell equations in an experiment (although we can do this in a Monte Carlo simulation). The best we can hope for is that the coupling v is small. The actual size of coupling v at the microscopic scale depends on the material and, if v is small, the Heisenberg fixed point could be a good description in a range of distances and reduced temperatures (see Sec. III). But at sufficiently long distances and sufficiently close to the critical point, which may or may not be experimentally resolvable in practice, the pure Heisenberg description breaks down and v needs to be taken into account.

Indeed, the term V_{dip} is strongly relevant: it has the same dimension as the mass term in (2.1). Moreover, it is the only nonlocal term in the Hamiltonian, so it will not get direct renormalization contributions from local couplings.⁵ In the deep infrared (IR), the effective coupling v will grow to $+\infty$. The effect of this will be quite dramatic: at the IR fixed point all longitudinal fluctuations of the order parameter will be suppressed

$$\partial_i \phi_i = 0$$
 (at the IR fixed point). (2.5)

[Note that the integrand in (2.4) can be written as $|q_i\phi_i(q)|^2/q^2$.] The fixed point for the remaining transverse fluctuations can still be studied in the ε expansion, but the usual procedure should be modified. If one is interested in fixed-point physics only, one can study the renormalization group (RG) flow of LGW Hamiltonian (2.1) imposing the constraint (2.5) all along the flow. This means that one is working with the transverse propagator

$$\langle \phi_i(q)\phi_j(-q)\rangle = \frac{\delta_{ij} - q_i q_j/q^2}{q^2 + m^2}$$
(2.6)

instead of the usual scalar field propagator. The propagator remains transverse along the RG flow. One works in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$

dimensions, in which case ϕ_i is a *d*-component order parameter. As usual, one computes the beta function for the quartic coupling, but since the diagrams are computed with a different propagator, the actual beta-function coefficients are a bit different. The quartic coupling flows to an IR fixed point, which we call "dipolar" (it was called "isotropic dipolar" in [2]). The anomalous dimensions of operators ϕ_i , ϕ^2 , $(\phi^2)^2$, etc., and the usual critical exponents can be computed as power series in ε . These computations have been carried out in [2,3] to order ε^2 (see Table II in [30], p. 388). Although these series are different from those for the Heisenberg case, the numerical values extrapolated to $\varepsilon = 1$ come out close. Recently, critical exponents were computed at three loops directly in d = 3[31], confirming the closeness to the Heisenberg values.

The critical exponents being close to Heisenberg (H), the most dramatic feature of the dipolar (D) fixed point remains the suppression (2.5) of the longitudinal fluctuations of the order parameter. The critical two-point (2pt) function of the order parameter takes the form

$$\langle \phi_i(q)\phi_j(-q)\rangle = \frac{\delta_{ij} - q_i q_j/q^2}{|q|^{2-\eta_D}},$$
 (2.7)

to be compared with $\langle \phi_i(q)\phi_j(-q)\rangle = \delta_{ij}/|q|^{2-\eta_H}$ at the Heisenberg fixed point. This suppression has been seen with polarized neutron scattering (see Sec. III). As we will see in Sec. IV, the 2pt function is compatible with conformal invariance at the Heisenberg but not at the dipolar fixed point.

Remark 1. In this paper, we will be neglecting the cubic perturbation $\sum_{i=1}^{3} \phi_i^4$ of the Hamiltonian (2.1). Such a perturbation, which may arise due to spin-orbit coupling, is usually assumed to be small in ferromagnets. It is known that this perturbation is (very weakly) relevant at the 3D Heisenberg fixed point [[23], Sec. 11.3] [28,32].

A. Manifestly local description

In the previous discussion, we perturbed the LGW Hamiltonian by a nonlocal dipolar interaction, and we argued that the infrared behavior is local because dipole interactions simply impose the local constraint (2.5). In this section, we reach the same conclusion starting from a manifestly local Hamiltonian.

As anticipated below Eq. (2.2), the field $\phi_i(x)$ is proportional to the coarse-grained magnetization and,0 as such, it couples to the dynamical magnetic field B_i . The precise form of the coupling is

$$\int d^d x \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_i \phi_j \partial_i \phi_j - z B_i \phi_i + \frac{B_i^2}{8\pi} + \frac{m_0^2}{2} (\phi_i \phi_i) + \frac{\lambda}{4} (\phi_i \phi_i)^2 \right),$$
(2.8)

where $B_i = (\nabla \times A)_i$ is the magnetic field. The coefficient z is the proportionality factor in $\phi_i = zM_i$ where M_i is the coarse-grained magnetization (we will set z = 1 in Sec. III and Appendix A). Because the vector potential A_i appears quadratically, we can solve its equations of motion (EOM) exactly and plug them back into the action. The result is the sum of (2.1) and (2.2), upon identifying

$$m^2 = m_0^2 - 4\pi z^2$$
, $v = \frac{z^2}{2}$. (2.9)

³In Sec. III, we will change the normalization of the field ϕ so that it *equals* the coarse-grained magnetization. Then the coefficient $v = \frac{1}{2}$. Here we find it more convenient to work in the normalization where the kinetic term $\frac{1}{2}\partial_i\phi_i\partial_i\phi_i$ is canonically normalized.

⁴The mixing between space and internal symmetry is the reason we use latin indices i, j = 1, ..., d for the dipolar model. For all other models, we use notation $\mu, \nu = 1, ..., d$ for space-time indices.

⁵There will be indirect renormalization effect due to wave-function renormalization, which is small because the anomalous dimension of ϕ is small.

The Hamiltonian (2.8) can also be used to show the suppression of longitudinal fluctuations. We rewrite (2.8) by imposing the Bianchi identity via a Lagrange multiplier U:

$$\int d^d x \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_i \phi_j \partial_i \phi_j - z B_i \phi_i + \frac{B_i^2}{8\pi} + \frac{m_0^2}{2} (\phi_i \phi_i) + \frac{\lambda}{4} (\phi_i \phi_i)^2 - U \partial_i B_i \right).$$
(2.10)

Note that the field U coincides, up to rescaling, with the magnetic potential called U in Appendix A. Integrating out the unconstrained B_i we obtain

$$\int d^d x \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_i \phi_j \partial_i \phi_j - 2\pi (\partial_i U - z \phi_i)^2 + \frac{m_0^2}{2} (\phi_i \phi_i) + \frac{\lambda}{4} (\phi_i \phi_i)^2 \right).$$
(2.11)

Dropping the term $(\partial_i U)^2$, irrelevant in the long-wavelength limit, we obtain the effective Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H} = \int d^d x \left(\frac{1}{2} \partial_i \phi_j \partial_i \phi_j - U \partial_i \phi_i + \frac{m^2}{2} (\phi_i \phi_i) + \frac{\lambda}{4} (\phi_i \phi_i)^2 \right),$$
(2.12)

up to a rescaling of U. This shows that the role of U is to impose the local constraint (2.5).

The scale-invariant dipolar fixed point is obtained by fine tuning m^2 at the critical value. From now on we work with the fine-tuned mass, which in dimensional regularization corresponds to $m^2 = 0$. The RG flow of λ is attractive toward the fixed-point value of λ_* .

Let us briefly compare theory (2.12) to theory (2.1) with constraint (2.5) imposed "by hand." Correlation functions of ϕ_i are the same in both theories. In theory (2.12) we have an additional local field U. It should not be too surprising that such an additional local field could be added to the theory. In fact, the original microscopic theory had the magnetic field B_i , and correlation functions of U can be traced back to the (longwavelength limit of) correlators of B_i . The noninteracting 2pt functions of U with itself and with ϕ_i are given by

$$\langle U(q)U(-q)\rangle_0 = -1, \quad \langle U(q)\phi_i(-q)\rangle_0 = iq_i/q^2.$$
 (2.13)

In perturbation theory, the field U appears only at the external legs since there are no vertices involving it. Because the propagator $\langle \phi_i \phi_j \rangle_0$ is transverse, the 2pt function $\langle U \phi_i \rangle$ is not renormalized. So the anomalous dimension of U will be the opposite to that of ϕ_i :

$$\Delta_{\phi} = (d-2)/2 + \gamma_{\phi}, \quad \Delta_U = d/2 - \gamma_{\phi}.$$
 (2.14)

This is easy to understand: the wave-function renormalization of ϕ_i and of U comes from the ϕ_i self-energy Π_{ij} (the sum of 1PI irreducible diagrams). In the ϕ_i case, Π_{ij} is iterated, while for U only the linear in Π_{ij} term contributes, due to the transversality of $\langle \phi_i \phi_j \rangle_0$.

III. PHENOMENOLOGY AND EXPERIMENTS⁶

Experimentally, dipolar behavior has been reported in some ferromagnets (EuO, EuS), while in others, like Ni, Fe, it is harder to see, and in fact they are usually assumed to exhibit Heisenberg behavior. Here we would like to discuss why this is so, and how can one guess *a priori* which behavior to expect from a given material, depending on the range of temperatures and distance lengths used to probe the system.

For this discussion, it helps to normalize the field ϕ so that it equals the (coarse-grained) microscopic magnetization:

$$\phi_i = M_i \,. \tag{3.1}$$

The finite-temperature partition function is given by

$$Z = \int D\phi \, e^{-\beta \mathcal{H}[\phi]} \,, \tag{3.2}$$

where the Hamiltonian, including the dipolar term, is given by

$$\mathcal{H}[\phi] = \int d^3x \left(\frac{1}{2} a (\partial_i \phi_j)^2 + \frac{1}{2} b \phi_i^2 \right) + \frac{1}{2} \int d^3x \int d^3y \ U_{ij}(x - y) \phi_i(x) \phi_j(y) \,. \tag{3.3}$$

We are omitting here the quartic interaction term which will not play a role in the present discussion. Notably, in the chosen normalization of ϕ , the coefficient of the dipolar term is completely fixed.⁷ In presence of an external magnetic field $B^{(0)}$, the Hamiltonian should be perturbed by $-B_i^{(0)}\phi_i$, whose normalization is also fixed. This is important for discussing susceptibility measurements.

The inverse propagator of ϕ is given, up to overall rescaling, by

$$G_{ij}^{-1}(q) \propto (q^2 + \xi^{-2})\delta_{ij} + q_d^2 \frac{q_i q_j}{q^2},$$
 (3.4)

where we defined two important quantities:

$$\xi = (a/b)^{1/2}, \quad q_d = (4\pi/a)^{1/2}.$$
 (3.5)

The ξ is the correlation length, which goes to infinity when $b \rightarrow 0$, as the critical point is approached. The q_d is the dipolar wave vector, which determines the range where the dipolar effects become important. The propagator, obtained by inverting (3.4), is given by

$$G_{ij}(q) \propto \frac{1}{q^2 + \xi^{-2}} \left(\delta_{ij} - \frac{q_i q_j}{q^2} \right) + \frac{1}{q^2 + \xi^{-2} + q_d^2} \frac{q_i q_j}{q^2}.$$
(3.6)

We thus have two regimes, distinguishing between the shortrange (Heisenberg) and the dipolar behavior:

Short range:
$$\xi^{-2} + q^2 \gg q_d^2 \Rightarrow G_{ij}(q) \propto \frac{\delta_{ij}}{q^2 + \xi^{-2}}$$
, (3.7)

⁶Readers interested primarily in scale without conformal may proceed directly to Sec. IV.

⁷We obtain this term by integrating out B_i from (2.8) with z = 1 [see Eq. (2.9)]. See also Appendix A.

Dipolar:
$$\xi^{-2} + q^2 \ll q_d^2 \Rightarrow G_{ij}(q)$$

 $\propto \frac{1}{q^2 + \xi^{-2}} \left(\delta_{ij} - \frac{q_i q_j}{q^2} \right).$ (3.8)

It is only in the second regime, where the propagator (which can be studied, e.g., using polarized neutron scattering) will show longitudinal suppression.

Thus, we see that to access experimentally the dipolar regime, two conditions have to be satisfied. First, the correlation length ξ must be sufficiently large: $\xi^{-1} \ll q_d$. This, according to (3.5), translates into $b \ll 4\pi$. In other words, we must be sufficiently close to the critical point located at b = 0. In addition, the scattered neutrons have to be sufficiently soft: $q \ll q_d$.

Let us focus on the criterion $b \ll 4\pi$. To be useful, this criterion has to be translated as a constraint on the reduced temperature $t = (T - T_c)/T_c$. For a given material, we can determine constants a, b in the LGW Hamiltonian doing experiments far away from T_c , when neglect of the quartic interaction in (3.3) is justified. The constant b can be determined by measuring magnetization in the applied external uniform magnetic field $B^{(0)}$ at $t = (T - T_c)/T_c = O(1)$ (i.e. far away from the transition point) and using the relation

$$\phi_i = \frac{B_i^{(0)}}{b + 4\pi D_i} \,, \tag{3.9}$$

where D_i is the demagnetizing factor, depending on the shape of the sample (see Appendix A). The constant *a* can be determined measuring the correlation length ξ (e.g., via neutron scattering) and using (3.5).

Once we determine *b* at t = O(1), we can extrapolate it to $t \ll 1$. In the Gaussian approximation as in (3.3), *b* would be proportional to *t*. In the critical region it is more appropriate to use the relation corrected for the presence of critical exponents:

$$b = C^{-1}t^{\gamma}, \qquad (3.10)$$

where $\gamma \approx 1.4$ is the Heisenberg susceptibility exponent [see Eq. (3.14)] and *C* is a dimensionless constant. Let us define t_d to be the temperature such that $b(t_d) = 4\pi$, i.e.,

$$t_d = (4\pi C)^{1/\gamma}.$$
 (3.11)

Then the dipolar behavior may be seen for $|t| \ll t_d$ while for larger *t* we expect to see the Heisenberg behavior. The same criterion to determine t_d was proposed in [33].

Similarly, ξ depends on t according to

$$\xi = (a/b)^{1/2} = f^+ t^{-\nu},$$
 (3.12)

where f^+ is a constant and $\nu \approx 0.7$ is the correlation length exponent. Equations (3.10) and (3.12) are consistent if $\gamma = 2\nu$, which is not exactly true, but is approximately true because η is small. Such an approximation is acceptable here, as we are aiming for an order-of-magnitude estimate.

In Table I we give, for a few materials, values of C, t_d , f^+ and q_d extracted from experiments.

We extract two conclusions from this table. First, the values of t_d are much larger for EuS and EuO than for Fe and Ni. Thus, we expect that EuS and EuO will show only dipolar behavior, for $t \ll t_d$. On the other hand, as t is lowered, Fe and

TABLE I. We use $t_d \approx (4\pi C)^{1/1.4}$ and $q_d = (4\pi C)^{1/2}/f^+$. We give a detailed account of sources for these data in Appendix B.

	EuS	EuO	Fe	Ni
$C(10^{-3})$	16	5.2	0.13	0.040
t_d	0.31	0.14	0.010	0.0044
f^{+} (Å)	1.8	1.6	0.91	1.27
q_d (Å ⁻¹)	0.24	0.16	0.045	0.018

Ni are expected to show Heisenberg behavior for $t_d \ll t \ll 1$, followed by a crossover to dipolar behavior for $t \ll t_d$ (see Fig. 1).

Second, q_d is also much smaller for Fe and Ni than for EuS and EuO. Thus, much softer polarized neutrons will have to be used to see the suppression of longitudinal fluctuations of the order parameter.

A. Microscopic derivations of effective theory

For Eu compounds, which are ferromagnetic insulators with well-localized magnetic moments, one can also give an independent estimate for parameters *a* and *b* starting from the microscopic Heisenberg model and performing Hubbard-Stratonovich transformation. The inputs in this computation are the critical temperature, the magnitude of the individual magnetic moments, and the lattice constant. This gives, for EuS and EuO, *a* and *b* in reasonable agreement with the estimates in Table I extracted from the measurements of ξ and χ (see Appendix C).

Early literature [1] attempted to estimate the strength of dipolar effects in ferromagnetic metals such Fe and Ni using similar microscopic arguments. Those estimates come out very different from Table I, and we believe they cannot be



FIG. 1. The RG flow diagram with four fixed points: *G*, Gaussian; *G'*, Gaussian dipolar; *H*, Heisenberg; *D*, dipolar. Materials with $t_d \sim 1$, like EuS and EuO, correspond to trajectories like 1 which flow straight to *D*. Materials with $t_d \ll 1$, like Fe and Ni, are supposed to correspond to trajectories like 2 which first approach *H* and then flow to *D*. The shown trajectories correspond to the exact critical temperature t = 0 (critical flow). For *t* slightly different from 0, the RG flow initially tracks the critical trajectory, and then deviates from it. Depending on the value of *t*, this deviation may happen, for type-2 trajectories, when the flow is near *H* or near *D*. This implies the crossover behavior mentioned in the main text.

trusted (Ref. [33] also finds estimates for dipolar strength of Fe and Ni in tension with [1]). Indeed, the Heisenberg model description is not correct for Fe and Ni at the microscopic level since their magnetic moments are not localized but are carried by electrons in the conductance bands (itinerant magnetism [34]). For such materials, direct microscopic estimates of a and b are bound to be much harder than for ferromagnetic insulators. On the other hand, the method leading to Table I should be universally applicable.

The microscopic derivation given in Appendix C, while not directly applicable to itinerant magnets, does illustrate an important point: that the unit normalization of the $-\phi \cdot \vec{B}^{(0)}$ coupling is inevitably related to the fixed normalization of the dipolar interaction term given in (3.3). One could still ask the following, for the sake of the argument: What if we change the coefficient of the $\phi U \phi$ term from $\frac{1}{2}$ to e/2, with e a new parameter? One change is that (3.9) would then become [see also (A13)]

$$\phi = \frac{B^{(0)}}{b + 4\pi D^{\text{eff}}} = b^{-1}H^{t}, \quad D^{\text{eff}} = eD,$$

$$H^{t} = B^{(0)} - 4\pi D^{\text{eff}}\phi.$$
(3.13)

When measuring susceptibility, the value of D^{eff} is important when fitting the data. Thus, any deviation of D^{eff} from the purely geometrically determined D could be ascribed to $e \neq 1$. To our knowledge, no significant deviation is observed. For example, the works [35,36] used the geometric $D = 4\pi/3$ for spherical samples. Reference [37] reports N = 0.32 ($D = 4\pi N$) for their spherical sample (sample No.1).

1

B. Experimental evidence of the dipolar fixed-point behavior

The most dramatic effect of the dipolar fixed point is the suppression of longitudinal fluctuations of the order parameter. This effect can be seen by scattering polarized neutrons of the critical sample. For the longitudinal polarization, and for $t \ll t_d$, $q \ll q_d$, scattering cross section should be suppressed. This effect was observed in Ref. [5] for EuS and EuO. For one of these materials (EuS) they also explored $q \sim q_d$ and saw that the longitudinal suppression disappears, in accord with the theory.

We next discuss measurements of the critical exponent γ governing the asymptotic scaling behavior of the susceptibility $\chi \propto t^{-\gamma}$. In the Heisenberg fixed point, we have [using $\gamma = \nu(2 - \eta)$ and the latest Monte Carlo measurements of ν , η from [29]]⁸

$$\gamma_H = 1.396\,35(20)\,. \tag{3.14}$$

On the other hand, for the dipolar fixed point the three-loop calculations of [31] predict a smaller but very close value:

$$\gamma_D = 1.381(8) \,. \tag{3.15}$$

Reference [38] measured $\gamma = 1.387(36)$ for EuO and $\gamma = 1.399(40)$ for EuS, in agreement with the theoretical value of γ_D .

It is interesting to consider the effective susceptibility exponent:

$$\gamma_{\rm eff} = -\frac{d\,\log\chi}{d\,\log t}\,.\tag{3.16}$$

For materials with $t_d \ll 1$, which show a crossover behavior from Heisenberg to dipolar, the effective exponent should be close to γ_H for $t_d \ll t \ll 1$ and close to γ_D for $t \ll d_d$, but it can deviate from these at $t \sim t_d$. The functional dependence of this deviation on t/t_d is universal as it is controlled by the RG trajectory connecting the *H* and *D* fixed points (Fig. 1). This was computed to second order in the ε expansion by Bruce, Kosterlitz, and Nelson [39,40], with a result that γ_{eff} should show a pronounced dip at $t \sim t_d$. This dip can be interpreted as follows. Let us write

$$\chi \approx X_H t^{-\gamma_H} \quad (t_d \ll t \ll 1), \quad \chi \approx X_D t^{-\gamma_D} \quad (t \ll t_d).$$
(3.17)

Although we have $\gamma_H \approx \gamma_D$, the prefactors X_H and X_D do not have to be equal. The ratio X_D/X_H is universal. If $X_D/X_H < 1$, γ_{eff} will show a dip. This effect was confirmed experimentally by measurements on amorphous ferromagnets [41,42], reviewed in [43].

Remark 2. We would like to comment on the relatively recent susceptibility measurements in Ni [37] which cover $5 \times 10^{-4} < t < 1.5 \times 10^{-2}$. The estimate of t_d for Ni in Table I (and also in [33]) falls in the middle of this interval. However, the observations of [37] are inconsistent with this. Indeed, Ref. [37] sees no sign of the Heisenberg to dipolar crossover; in fact, their γ_{eff} decreases monotonically when increasing *t*. The authors of [37] assume that their *t* belong to the *H* critical region, and attribute the variation of γ to corrections to scaling near the *H* fixed point. Their experimental γ , extrapolated to t = 0, is $\gamma = 1.340(10)$, significantly lower than the theoretical value (3.14). To explain this discrepancy, they hypothesize a long-range exchange interaction modifying the universality class. The theoretical origin of this *ad hoc* interaction is unclear.

Experimental γ lower than theory is typical for measurements in isotropic itinerant magnets (see, e.g., [44], Table 5). It would be interesting to understand why.

IV. SCALE INVARIANCE WITHOUT CONFORMAL INVARIANCE

We will now argue that the dipolar fixed point is scale invariant but not conformally invariant. We will give two arguments, one based on the 2pt function of ϕ_i and another on the form of the stress tensor and the existence of the virial current (including an explanation for its nonrenormalization due to a shift symmetry). These discussions assume the ε expansion in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$ dimensions, but some of the arguments such as nonrenormalization of the virial current will be nonperturbative.

In Sec. V we list several other interacting models having scale without conformal invariance and identify shift symmetry as a general feature protecting the virial current dimension of all such currently known models.

⁸The latest conformal bootstrap result [28] is in agreement but less precise $\gamma = 1.3964(9)$.

A. Two-point function argument

The simplest way to observe that the theory is not conformally invariant is to look at the 2pt function of ϕ_i . This type of argument goes back to [11,20], and was also used in [7].

The 2pt function of ϕ_i with scaling dimension Δ_{ϕ} is given by

$$\begin{aligned} \langle \phi_i(x)\phi_j(0)\rangle &= \frac{A}{|x|^{2\Delta_{\phi}}} \Big(\delta_{ij} - \alpha \frac{x_i x_j}{x^2}\Big),\\ \alpha &= \frac{2\Delta_{\phi}}{2\Delta_{\phi} - (d-1)}, \end{aligned} \tag{4.1}$$

where α is fixed by the transversality condition $\partial_i \phi_i = 0$. Unless $\Delta_{\phi} = d - 1$, this is different from the 2pt function of a primary vector field, which has $\alpha = 2$. In ε expansion $\Delta_{\phi} = d - 1$ can be excluded; indeed we have [3]

$$\Delta_{\phi} = \frac{d-2}{2} + \gamma_{\phi}, \quad \gamma_{\phi} = \frac{10}{867} \varepsilon^2 + O(\varepsilon^3), \quad (4.2)$$

and the anomalous dimension γ_{ϕ} remains tiny in any $3 \leq d \leq 4$; the recent d = 3 calculation [31] found $\eta_{dip} = 2\gamma_{\phi} = 0.033(8)$. Hence, ϕ_i cannot be a conformal primary. Being the lowest dimension field of the theory, it cannot be a descendant either, finishing the proof.

As mentioned in the Introduction, often questions of scale and conformal invariance are studied imposing unitarity [19–21,45,46]. In this respect, it is worth pointing out that the dipolar fixed point is not unitary. Consider the 2pt function (4.1) with the separation being in the x_1 direction, i.e., x = (1, 0, 0, ...). In this configuration we have, from (4.1),

$$\langle \phi_1(x)\phi_1(0)\rangle = A(1-\alpha), \qquad (4.3)$$

$$\langle \phi_i(x)\phi_i(0)\rangle = A \quad (i \neq 1), \tag{4.4}$$

while reflection positivity demands that

$$\langle \phi_1(x)\phi_1(0)\rangle \leqslant 0, \qquad (4.5)$$

$$\langle \phi_i(x)\phi_i(0)\rangle \ge 0 \quad (i \ne 1).$$
 (4.6)

We see that these constraints require $\alpha \ge 1$, that is $\Delta_{\phi} \ge \frac{d-1}{2}$ or equivalently $\gamma_{\phi} \ge \frac{1}{2}$, which is excluded by the above perturbative estimates of this anomalous dimension.⁹

Remark 3. As we have seen in Sec. II A, the dipolar model Hamiltonian (2.12) can be obtained by coupling the O(3) model to the fluctuating magnetic field (2.8), integrating out the magnetic field and taking the low-energy limit. The O(3) model and the magnetic field Hamiltonian are separately unitary. So how can their coupling produce a nonunitary theory?¹⁰ The answer is that unitarity is broken by the coupling term $\phi_i B_i$ in (2.8), which treats ϕ_i as a vector field, while it was a scalar multiplet in the O(3) model.

Remark 4. An equivalent way to study the unitarity of the 2pt function (4.1) is by considering the Wightman spectral density in momentum space [48], which can be obtained as the imaginary part of the Schwinger function in momentum space (2.7), continued from Euclidean to Lorentzian. We have

$$\langle \phi_i(q)\phi_j(-q)\rangle \propto \theta(q^0)\theta(q^2)\frac{1}{(q^2)^{2-\gamma_{\phi}}}[q^2\eta_{ij}-q_iq_j], \quad (4.7)$$

where we use Lorentzian notation with the mostly minus metric. The Wightman function is supported in the forward cone $q^0 \ge 0$, $q^2 \ge 0$.

Multiplying (4.7) by external wave functions $\chi_i(q)$ and $\chi_j^*(-q)$ and integrating over q, unitarity requires that the answer should be non-negative. The expression in brackets gives

$$q^2\chi\chi^* - |\chi q|^2, \qquad (4.8)$$

which is non-negative inside the forward cone, as can be seen going to the rest frame $\vec{q} = 0$, where it becomes $q_0^2 |\vec{\chi}|^2$. The lack of unitarity of this theory comes not from the negativity of the Wightman function inside the forward cone (it is positive), but from the behavior of the integrand near the null cone. Indeed, a positive distribution must be a *measure*, i.e., integrable. The strongest constraint comes from approaching the cone transversally and imposes the constraint [cf. [48], Eq. (4.7)]

unitarity
$$\Longrightarrow \gamma_{\phi} \ge 1$$
, (4.9)

which is even stronger than the condition $\gamma_{\phi} \ge \frac{1}{2}$ found above.¹¹ However, the *x*-space argument was providing only the necessary condition since we only examined reflection positivity for the field ϕ_i . Considering derivatives of ϕ_i , it should be possible to improve the *x*-space argument and rule out the range $\frac{1}{2} \le \gamma_{\phi} < 1$.

Remark 5. Note that the position space correlator (4.1) becomes singular ($\alpha = \infty$) for $\Delta_{\phi} = \frac{d-1}{2}$. One wonders if this could lead to a nonperturbative argument that Δ_{ϕ} cannot cross $\frac{d-1}{2}$ between UV and IR. However, there does not seem to be a simple way to show this. Using an ansatz allowing for violations of scale invariance at intermediate scales

$$\langle \phi_i(x)\phi_j(0)\rangle = f(x^2) \Big(\delta_{ij} + g(x^2)\frac{x_i x_j}{x^2}\Big),$$
 (4.10)

the constraint $\partial_i \phi_i = 0$ imposes

$$\frac{dg}{d\rho} = \frac{d\log f}{d\rho} + \left[\frac{1-d}{2} - \frac{d\log f}{d\rho}\right]g, \quad \rho = x^2.$$
(4.11)

If $\frac{d \log f}{d\rho} = (1 - d)/2$ for some $\rho = \rho_0$, the second term in the right-hand side vanishes. This implies that $\frac{dg}{d\rho}$ must be nonzero at such ρ , but does not signal any particular singularity in integrating the equation.

⁹This argument also shows that the transverse vector unparticle proposed originally by Georgi in [47] is ruled out in the range $\Delta_{\phi} < \frac{3}{2}$ even if we assume the existence of scale-invariant but nonconformal field theories in d = 4.

¹⁰We thank J. Maldacena for raising this question and answering it.

¹¹Without extra assumptions, one cannot improve the bound further due to the existence of a concrete example: take a free massless scalar φ and consider $\phi_i = \partial_i \varphi$ [so that $\gamma = 1$ in (4.7)]. It is conserved because of the equation of motion, and the 2pt function must be consistent with the unitarity bound.

B. Stress tensor argument

The second, classic [19], way to understand whether a fixed point is scale invariant with or without conformal invariance proceeds via the properties of the trace of the stress tensor, which is a response to the background metric. According to Polchinski's analysis [19], a local fixed point is scale invariant if the trace of the stress tensor T_{ij}^{12} is given by the divergence of a vector operator V_i , referred to as the virial current:

$$T_{ii} = -\partial_i V_i \,. \tag{4.12}$$

Furthermore, the fixed point is conformally invariant (in d > 2, which is our case of interest here) if in addition to (4.12), the virial current is given by a divergence of a local operator, namely,

$$V_i = \partial_i \mathcal{O}_{ii} \,, \tag{4.13}$$

where \mathcal{O}_{ij} can be assumed symmetric without loss of generality. We will call virial currents satisfying this condition *improvable*. If it holds, an "improved" stress tensor can be found which is traceless [19].

To discuss the stress tensor in our model, we start from the local effective Hamiltonian (2.12), which eliminates the longitudinal fluctuations of the order parameter via the Lagrange multiplier. We will see below that our fixed point has a virial current $V_i \propto U\phi_i + \cdots$ where \cdots stands for improvable terms.

Here we present the gist of the argument, postponing to Appendix D a more detailed treatment of the effects of renormalization. To compute the stress tensor in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$ dimensions, it is convenient to redefine $U \rightarrow U + \frac{1}{2}\partial_i\phi_i$, which gives an effective action equivalent to (2.12):

$$\widetilde{\mathcal{H}} = \int d^d x \left(\frac{1}{4} f_{ij}^2 + \phi_i \partial_i U + \frac{\lambda}{4} (\phi_i \phi_i)^2 \right).$$
(4.14)

Here $f_{ij} = \partial_i \phi_j - \partial_j \phi_i$, and we have already assumed that m^2 is at the critical value, which is $m^2 = 0$ in dimensional regularization. The EOM are

$$\partial_i f_{ij} = \partial_j U + \lambda (\phi_i^2) \phi_j , \quad \partial_i \phi_i = 0.$$
 (4.15)

The (classical) stress tensor is computed as usual by varying the background metric. The merit of using f_{ij} is that we have no covariant derivative in the action.¹³ We only give here the expression for the trace of the stress tensor (see Appendix D for the full stress tensor):

$$T_{ii} = \frac{\varepsilon}{4} \Big[f_{ij}^2 + \lambda \big(\phi_i^2 \big)^2 \Big] + (2 - d) \phi_i \partial_i U$$

$$= -\frac{\varepsilon}{4} \lambda \big(\phi_i^2 \big)^2 - \frac{d}{2} \partial_i (\phi_i U) + \frac{\varepsilon}{2} \partial_i \partial_j \bigg(\frac{1}{2} \phi^2 \delta_{ij} - \phi_i \phi_j \bigg).$$

(4.16)

In the second line, we used the EOM to express the trace as a sum of a quartic term, a virial current and an improvable term. To include the effects of renormalization, we should express the trace in terms of renormalized fields. We carry this out in Appendix D, and here just give the main results. For the quartic term, renormalization amounts to the replacement $\varepsilon \lambda(\phi_i^2)^2 \rightarrow -\beta(\lambda)(\phi_i^2)^2 - 4\gamma_{\phi}\partial_i(\phi_i U) + \cdots$, with \cdots improvable terms. At the fixed point, the beta function vanishes $\beta(\lambda) = 0$ and the quartic term drops out. We finally obtain

$$T_{ii}|_{\text{fixed point}} = -\partial_i V_i, \quad V_i = V_i^{(0)} + \partial_j \mathcal{O}_{ij}, \quad V_i^{(0)} = \Delta_U U \phi_i.$$
(4.17)

The coefficient Δ_U in the last equation is shifted from the classical value d/2 to the renormalized value $\Delta_U = d/2 - \gamma_{\phi}$.¹⁴ The part $V_i^{(0)}$ of the virial current is not conserved: using EOM (4.15), we have $\partial_i V_i^{(0)} = \Delta_U \partial_i U \phi_i \neq 0$. It is also not improvable, as it is built of fields that carry no derivatives, while according to (4.13), improvable virial currents should contain at least one derivative.

Thus, we arrive at the same conclusion as in Sec. IV A: the dipolar fixed point is an interacting scale-invariant fixed point without conformal invariance.

C. Virial current dimension and the shift symmetry

This result begs the following question. Equation (4.12) means that the virial current operator V_i has scaling dimension exactly d - 1 since the stress tensor has scaling dimension d.¹⁵ In other words, its scaling dimension is not renormalized from the canonical dimension d - 1. Usually, the only vector operators that are not renormalized are the conserved currents, making scale without conformal invariance generically impossible in the presence of interactions [11,17]. Yet V_i is definitely not conserved. There must be something nongeneric about the dipolar fixed point, allowing V_i to not renormalize in the presence of interactions.

This nongeneric feature is the *shift symmetry* of model (2.12). The shift symmetry acts on the fundamental field U by $U(x) \rightarrow U(x) + u$ where u is a constant. The origin of this symmetry is the Bianchi identity of the *B* field.

The shift symmetry is a global symmetry group $G_{\text{shift}} = \mathbb{R}$. In particular, it commutes with Poincaré. We can also consider the shift-symmetry charge Q, which by definition acts on the

¹²We always assume that the stress tensor is symmetric to make the rotational invariance manifest.

¹³We vary $\int d^d x \sqrt{g} [\frac{1}{4} g^{ij} g^{kl} f_{ik} f_{jl} + g^{ij} \partial_i U \phi_j + \frac{\lambda}{4} (g^{ij} \phi_i \phi_j)^2]$. Stress tensors computed from (2.12) and (4.14) differ by improvable and EOM terms.

¹⁴The formal derivation of this finite shift can be found in Appendix D. Here we would like to point out the following amusing connection. We know that $\Delta_{\phi} = d - 1 - \Delta_U$. If Δ_U were zero (which does not happen in the dipolar model, because γ_{ϕ} is tiny), Δ_{ϕ} would become consistent with the conformal symmetry, as we have seen in Sec. IV A. We see that this goes hand in hand with the vanishing of the unimprovable part $V^{(0)}$ of the virial current in (4.17).

¹⁵To be precise, an arbitrarily chosen stress tensor may not have a well-defined scaling dimension, but it was shown in [19] how to find an "improved" stress tensor having canonical scaling dimension d (see also [14]). In this section, we use such a stress tensor and the corresponding virial current which has scaling dimension d - 1. This scaling virial current may differ from the virial current in the previous section by improvable terms. We review these arguments in Appendix D 4.

$$[Q, U(x)] = 1$$
 (i.e., $\delta_Q U = 1$). (4.18)

Therefore, the scaling dimension of Q is given by

$$\Delta_Q = -\Delta_U \,. \tag{4.19}$$

The conserved current generating the shift symmetry is ϕ_i . The charge Q can be obtained as a surface integral of the conserved current $Q = \int d\Sigma_i \phi_i$, from where we get an alternative expression for its scale dimension:

$$\Delta_Q = \Delta_\phi - (d-1). \tag{4.20}$$

The two expressions for Δ_Q are consistent by (2.14). This also provides an alternative way of understanding (2.14).

Equation (4.19) can also be equivalently written as a commutation relation between Q and the dilatation generator D:

$$[D,Q] = -\Delta_U Q. \tag{4.21}$$

Since $\Delta_U > 0$ in our model, this equation means that Q acts as a lowering operator for the scaling dimension. Scaling operators in the dipolar fixed point will come in infinite "shift multiplets":

$$\{\mathcal{O}_0, \mathcal{O}_1, \ldots\}, \qquad (4.22)$$

where

[

$$[Q, \mathcal{O}_n] = \mathcal{O}_{n-1} \quad (n \ge 1), \quad [Q, \mathcal{O}_0] = 0 \quad (4.23)$$

and

$$\Delta(\mathcal{O}_n) = \Delta(\mathcal{O}_0) + n\Delta_U. \tag{4.24}$$

Generally, in free theory we have $\mathcal{O}_n = \frac{1}{n!} U^n \mathcal{O}_0$. However, our construction of shift multiplets does not rely on perturbation theory, and the scaling dimensions (4.24) are valid nonperturbatively.

Let us focus on the shift multiplet constructed on top of $\mathcal{O}_0 = \phi_i$. We have

$$\Delta(\mathcal{O}_1) = \Delta_\phi + \Delta_U = d - 1, \qquad (4.25)$$

i.e., O_1 has scaling dimension d - 1, which is what we need! However, it is not a conserved current. Indeed, in free theory we have

$$(\mathcal{O}_1)_i = U\phi_i. \tag{4.26}$$

At the interacting IR fixed point we will have

$$(\mathcal{O}_1)_i = U\phi_i + \cdots, \qquad (4.27)$$

where \cdots are terms of 4D scaling dimension 3 which have schematic form $\partial \phi^2$. These terms need to be added to $U\phi_i$ to make it a good scaling operator. Note that ... terms do not involve U because the mixing matrix of $U\phi_i$ and $\partial \phi^2$ is triangular: $\partial \phi^2$, being neutral under the shift symmetry, cannot generate $U\phi_i$ under RG flow.¹⁶

We have shown that the dipolar fixed point contains a vector operator $(\mathcal{O}_1)_i$ of the form (4.27), having scaling dimension exactly d - 1. This achieves the main goal of this

PHYSICAL REVIEW B 110, 024421 (2024)

section: to show how the shift symmetry may naturally provide nonconserved operators of this scaling dimension.

The virial current V_i is also of the form (4.27), up to Δ_U rescaling. Let us consider the stress tensor which has a well-defined scaling dimension (*d*), so that the corresponding virial current, which we denote V^{scale} , also has a well-defined scaling dimension (*d* - 1). This also fixes the ... terms in the virial current. It can be shown that the ... terms in V^{scale} and \mathcal{O}_1 are the same (up to Δ_U rescaling), that is,

$$V = \Delta_U \mathcal{O}_1 \,, \tag{4.28}$$

This should not be surprising as it is already difficult to have *one* nonconserved vector of scaling dimension exactly d - 1; to have *two* would be inexplicable. Thus, we will not verify this explicitly here.

We will see in Sec. V that shift symmetries are at work not just for the dipolar fixed point but for all known interacting models of scale without conformal invariance. In all of them, the virial current dimension can be seen protected by a shift symmetry.

Remark 6. For completeness, we give here the original version of the argument for the nonrenormalization of the virial current [18]. There, the main idea was to exploit the shift symmetry by considering the 2pt functions $\langle V_j(x_2)\phi_k(x_3)\rangle$ and $\langle \phi_j(x_2)\phi_k(x_3)\rangle$, which are related by shift symmetry:

$$\delta_Q \langle V_j(x_2)\phi_k(x_3)\rangle = \Delta_U \langle \phi_j(x_2)\phi_k(x_3)\rangle . \tag{4.29}$$

This relation can be written as the following Ward-Takahashi identity involving the divergence of ϕ_i , which is the shift-symmetry current:

$$\langle \partial_i \phi_i(x_1) V_j(x_2) \phi_k(x_3) \rangle = \Delta_U \delta^d(x_1 - x_2) \langle \phi_j(x_2) \phi_k(x_3) \rangle .$$
(4.30)

Equating the scaling dimensions of both sides gives

$$\Delta_{\phi} + 1 + \Delta_{V} + \Delta_{\phi} = d + 2\Delta_{\phi} \implies \Delta_{V} = d - 1.$$
(4.31)

This argument for the nonrenormalization of Δ_V is basically equivalent to the argument given in the main text. Although it is shorter, at the first look it may appear a bit *ad hoc*. The argument in the main text, based on Eqs. (4.21) and (4.25), is hopefully useful to understand the inner workings of this mechanism.

Remark 7. It is amusing to recall that the usual argument for the nonrenormalization of the conserved current dimension is also based on a Ward-Takahashi identity. Namely, we have, for a conserved current *J* associated with a linearly realized global symmetry, a Ward-Takahashi identity of the schematic form $\langle \partial_i J_i(x_1)\varphi(x_2)... \rangle \propto \delta^d(x_1 - x_2)\langle \varphi(x_2)... \rangle$, which implies $\Delta_J = d - 1$.

D. Other consequences of shift symmetry

Let us discuss an additional role of the shift symmetry concerning the U^2 operator. This operator is classically marginal. Taking into account interactions, it will become weakly relevant (see below), and could destabilize the dipolar fixed point. However, since the operator is charged under the shift symmetry, it is not generated by the RG, and so the fixed point is protected.

¹⁶The operator $\partial_i U$ also has 4D scaling dimension 3, but being \mathbb{Z}_2 odd it does not appear in

Let us discuss the dimension of U^2 in more detail. Let us call by $[U^2]$ the renormalized U^2 operator, which differs from U^2 by pieces of the schematic form $(\partial \phi)^2$ and $\partial (\phi U)$, with which it can mix under renormalization. The operator $[U^2]$ can be equivalently defined as the first excited member \mathcal{O}_1 of the shift multiplet (4.22) built on top of $\mathcal{O}_0 = U$. Therefore, we have

$$\Delta_{[U^2]} = 2\Delta_U = 2(d - 1 - \Delta_{\phi}) = d - 2\gamma_{\phi}, \qquad (4.32)$$

where the first equation follows from (4.24). Since γ_{ϕ} is positive, the U^2 deformation is indeed relevant, as stated above.

As we said, U^2 is not going to be generated by the RG starting from (2.12). But what will happen if we add it by hand, thus breaking the shift symmetry? It is reasonable to guess that this deformation will start a flow which, if the mass term is properly perturbed as well, will eventually take us back to the O(d) Wilson-Fisher fixed point, where the theory is conformally invariant. We can test this guess for consistency by looking at what happens at the end point of this flow, when the Wilson-Fisher fixed point is approached. Around the O(d)Wilson-Fisher fixed point [or O(3) Heisenberg fixed point in three dimensions], the flow will be induced by the leading deformation which breaks the O(d) spatial times O(d) internal symmetry of Wilson-Fisher to the diagonal O(d). This deformation \mathcal{O} can be constructed from the Wilson-Fisher primary $R_{\mu\nu,ij}$ of the schematic form $\phi_i \partial_\mu \partial_\nu \phi_j$, which is spin two in both space-time and O(d), by contracting indices appropriately: $\mathcal{O} = \delta_{\mu i} \delta_{\nu j} R_{\mu \nu, ij}$. It is known that in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$ [22]

$$\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} = d + \frac{d}{[3(d+8)]^2} \varepsilon^2 \,. \tag{4.33}$$

This anomalous dimension has to be positive because this primary is not conserved, and unitarity implies that a nonconserved spin-two operator has dimension strictly greater than d. So \mathcal{O} is indeed irrelevant, as it should be if the flow leads from the dipolar to the Wilson-Fisher fixed point.

We see that once we break the shift symmetry, we flow to a fixed point which is conformal. This may be traced back to the need to have the virial current of dimension d - 1. Once the shift symmetry is broken, there is nothing that protects the dimension of the virial current in an interacting theory. We will see in the next section that all known scale without conformal fixed points have a shift symmetry.

Remark 8. At the beginning of the paper, we discussed a flow that takes us from Wilson-Fisher to dipolar via a non-local deformation (2.2). The nonlocal deformation could be obtained, as in Sec. II A, by coupling Wilson-Fisher to another local sector (magnetic field). This additional local sector is not reproduced when we get back from dipolar to Wilson-Fisher via a local deformation breaking the shift symmetry, as discussed above. Thus, the RG flow is not circular.

V. OTHER INTERACTING MODELS WITH SCALE WITHOUT CONFORMAL INVARIANCE

In this section, we discuss several other interacting scale without conformal models. An important feature of all these models is that they have a shift symmetry that acts on some fundamental field as $\mathcal{O}(x) \rightarrow \mathcal{O}(x) + c$, with *c* a constant. It

is this symmetry that prevents scale invariance from getting enhanced to conformal invariance.

To see that shift-invariant models are not conformal one simply looks at the 2pt function of the shift current. This is in fact the strategy of Sec. IV A because ϕ_i is the shift current in the dipolar model. Throughout this section we call J_{μ} the shift current, and we call $Q = \int d\Sigma_{\mu} J_{\mu}$ its charge. In this notation, conservation of the shift current fixes its 2pt function

$$\langle J_{\mu}(x)J_{\nu}(0)\rangle = \frac{A}{|x|^{2\Delta_J}} \left(\delta_{\mu\nu} - \frac{2\Delta_J}{2\Delta_J - (d-1)} \frac{x_{\mu}x_{\nu}}{x^2}\right).$$
 (5.1)

If J_{μ} is a primary field, that is, if J_{μ} is not a total derivative of another local operator, then this is compatible with conformal invariance only when $\Delta_J = d - 1$. However, the way shift symmetry acts on \mathcal{O} implies

$$[Q, \mathcal{O}(x)] = \delta_Q \mathcal{O}(x) = 1 \Longrightarrow \Delta_J = d - 1 - \Delta_\mathcal{O} . \quad (5.2)$$

As a result, if J_{μ} is a primary field and $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} \neq 0$, the fixed point is scale but not conformally invariant.¹⁷ This elementary argument explains why all models below, and more generally any interacting shift-invariant theory, are scale but not conformally invariant.

This still begs the question of why all these models have a virial current V_{μ} with dimension exactly $\Delta_V = d - 1$. The main idea is the same as in Sec. IV C, namely, that shift symmetry provides a candidate virial current V_{μ} with the right dimension. The property that defines V_{μ} is that under shift symmetry it maps to the current J_{μ} , namely,

$$[Q, \mathcal{V}_{\mu}] = \delta_{Q} \mathcal{V}_{\mu} = J_{\mu} \Longrightarrow \Delta_{\mathcal{V}} = d - 1.$$
 (5.3)

The implication $\Delta_{\mathcal{V}} = d - 1$ is valid assuming that \mathcal{V}_{μ} is a good scaling operator (i.e., that it has a well-defined scaling dimension). We stress that \mathcal{V}_{μ} is a *candidate* virial current. To guarantee that only scale invariance is present, it is still necessary to check that this \mathcal{V}_{μ} is the true virial current V_{μ} , i.e., that it does appear in the trace of the stress tensor, and moreover that it is not improvable. The goal of the rest of this section is to show in detail how this mechanism works for several models of interest. The argument in (5.1) and (5.2) trivially applies to all these models, and shall not be repeated below.

A. Landau-gauge massless QED in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$

We start by reviewing the examples of [8]. Historically, these were the first interacting examples of scale without conformal invariance. The first example is the Landau-gauge massless QED in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$ dimensions. It is known that massless QED [a U(1) gauge field + a massless fermion]

¹⁷The only subtlety is that the shift current could be a descendant. Since $\delta_{\mathcal{Q}}\mathcal{O} = 1$ we get the 2pt function $\langle J_{\mu}(q)\mathcal{O}(-q)\rangle = iq_{\mu}/q^2$, and conformal invariance would require J_{μ} to be a descendant of \mathcal{O} . In this case $J \sim \partial^n \mathcal{O}$ and $\Delta_J = \Delta_{\mathcal{O}} + n$. Compatibility with (5.2) requires $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} = \frac{d-1-n}{2}$ for some integer *n*. This scenario is realized in free theories with Lagrangian $\mathcal{L} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\mu_1} \dots \partial_{\mu_m} \mathcal{O})^2$. However, in interacting theories generically $\Delta_{\mathcal{O}} \neq \frac{d-1-n}{2}$ and only scale invariance will be realized.

flows to a fixed point in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$ dimensions, which is conformal in the gauge-invariant sector [49,50]. Let us consider the gauge-fixed action for the same flow, in the Landau gauge, implemented via a Lagrange multiplier:

$$S = \int d^d x \left(-\frac{1}{4e^2} (\partial_\mu A_\nu - \partial_\mu A_\nu)^2 + B \partial_\mu A_\mu + i \bar{\psi} D_\mu \gamma_\mu \psi + \text{ghosts} \right).$$
(5.4)

Usually, the gauge-fixed action is treated as a formal device to do computations for the original theory. Here, following [8], we consider it is as a field theory in its own right. It is a welldefined field theory, albeit nonunitary. The decoupled ghost sector is necessary for Becchi-Rouet-Stora-Tyupin (BRST) invariance.

The bosonic part of the action (4.14) bears some similarity with the dipolar model action (4.14), except for the absence of the quartic term $(A_{\mu}A_{\mu})^2$. Of course, this term was absent in the gauge theory from which (5.4) originated. At the level of theory (5.4), this term is forbidden by the BRST invariance of (5.4). In the dipolar model (4.14), there was no BRST invariance, and the quartic term was allowed.

Now, the main points of [8] are as follows:

(i) Theory (5.4) has a fixed point at the same value of the gauge coupling as the original gauge-invariant theory.

(ii) This fixed point is scale invariant but not conformal invariant, with the nonzero virial current $V_{\mu} = (d - 2)BA_{\mu}$.

(iii) There is no contradiction with the conformal invariance of the gauge theory fixed point. Indeed, the virial current together with the decoupled ghost contribution is BRST trivial, so after taking the BRST cohomology, the theory does become conformally invariant.

We can now see that the dimension of the virial current in this model is protected by the same mechanism (5.3). The shift symmetry Q is $B \rightarrow B + b$ for b constant; it is generated by the current $J_{\mu} = A_{\mu}$. We have $\delta_Q V_{\mu} \propto J_{\mu}$. Thus, $\Delta_V = d - 1$, as pertains to the virial current.

In [8], the nonrenormalization of the virial current was proved in a slightly different manner by using the BRST symmetry. Our derivation here is more direct because we do not refer to the decoupled ghost sector.

B. Landau-gauge Banks-Zaks fixed point in d = 4

The next example from [8] applies the same idea to non-Abelian gauge theories in four dimensions (4D) (as opposed to $d = 4 - \varepsilon$). In 4D, we know infinitely many examples of gauge theories with massless matter that show nontrivial fixed points such as the Banks-Zaks fixed points or the $\mathcal{N} = 4$ super Yang-Mills theory. These fixed points show conformal invariance in the gauge-invariant sectors, but the corresponding gauge-fixed theories show scale invariance without conformal invariance [8]. However, after taking the BRST cohomology and thus restricting to the gauge-invariant sector, these scaleinvariance fixed points become conformal.

In more detail, consider the Yang-Mills theory with massless matter. Here as in the previous section we restrict to the Landau gauge (see the next section for an example not in the Landau gauge). The action is

$$S = \int d^4x \left(-\frac{1}{4g^2} F^a_{\mu\nu} F^a_{\mu\nu} + B^a \partial_\mu A^a_\mu + i\bar{c}^a \partial_\mu D_\mu c^a + \text{matter} \right).$$
(5.5)

Let us assume that the gauge coupling, as well as the other matter coupling constants if any, flow to a fixed point. In this general setup, the analysis of the stress tensor trace shows [8] that theory (5.5) is scale invariant but not conformal. The virial current is

$$V_{\mu} = \Delta_B \left(B^a A^a_{\mu} + i \bar{c}^a D_{\mu} c^a \right). \tag{5.6}$$

Here the coefficient in the virial current is shifted from the classical value of 2 to $\Delta_B = 2 - \gamma_A$. While the full theory is only scale invariant, conformal invariance would be recovered were we to restrict to the BRST-invariant subsector. This is because the above virial current is BRST trivial:

$$V_{\mu} = \left\{ Q_{\text{BRST}}, \Delta_B \bar{c}^a A^a_{\mu} \right\}. \tag{5.7}$$

Thus, within the BRST cohomology, the energy-momentum tensor becomes traceless. This is why scale invariance of the gauge-fixed theory [8] is not in contradiction with conformal invariance of the corresponding gauge-invariant fixed point.

Now let us discuss how the dimension of the virial current is protected. In addition to the BRST invariance, theory (5.5) has *two* shift symmetries $B^a \rightarrow B^a + \lambda^a$ and $\bar{c}^a \rightarrow \bar{c}^a + \bar{b}^a$ with constant λ^a , \bar{b}^a .¹⁸ Although we will not need it, we note the algebra satisfied by their charges:

$$[Q_{\text{BRST}}, Q_B] = Q_{\bar{c}}, \quad \{Q_{\text{BRST}}, Q_{\bar{c}}\} = 0, \quad [Q_B, Q_{\bar{c}}] = 0.$$
(5.8)

The currents of the *B* and \bar{c} symmetries are the fields A_{μ} and $D_{\mu}c$. Moreover, we have

$$[Q_B, BA_\mu] = A_\mu, \quad [Q_{\bar{c}}, \bar{c} D_\mu c] = D_\mu c.$$
 (5.9)

Both these equations are of the form (5.3). Applying the general argument, we conclude that theory (5.5) contains *two* fields of dimension d - 1, namely, the level-1 fields of the *B*-shift and \bar{c} -shift-symmetry multiplets built on top of the corresponding shift currents A_{μ} and $D_{\mu}c$. The virial current (5.6) is their particular linear combination, so it also has dimension d - 1.

This example produces infinitely many interacting scaleinvariant but nonconformal field theories where the dimension of the virial current is protected by the shift symmetries.

C. Fixed points not in the Landau gauge

The third example from [8] is a generalization of (5.5) from the Landau gauge to a general ξ gauge, i.e., adding the term $-\frac{1}{2\xi}(B^a)^2$ to the action. The gauge parameter ξ is then treated as a dimensionless coupling that runs under the RG flow. Then the Landau-gauge value $\xi = \infty$ is always a fixed point. Depending on the theory, there may exist other fixed points of the gauge parameter ξ . In QED, there is no other fixed point

¹⁸The second shift symmetry exists because the ghost c^a is independent of the antighost \bar{c}^a . Not all textbooks treat this point properly.

than the Landau gauge, but in non-Abelian theories, such fixed points were found in [8].

The virial current is still given by Eqs. (5.6) and (5.7). We would like to explain that its dimension is d - 1. Since $\xi \neq \infty$, we no longer have the shift symmetry of B^a , so the argument from the previous section does not apply. However, we can still give a robust argument, using the shift symmetry of \bar{c}^a , in combination with the BRST invariance.

The argument is based on the following four equations:¹⁹

$$V_{\mu} = [Q_{\text{BRST}}, \Delta_B \, \bar{c} \, A_{\mu}], \qquad (5.10)$$

$$A_{\mu} = \{Q_{\bar{c}}, \bar{c}A_{\mu}\},\tag{5.11}$$

$$iD_{\mu}c = [Q_{\text{BRST}}, A_{\mu}], \qquad (5.12)$$

$$\Delta_{Q_{\bar{c}}} = \Delta_{D_{\mu}c} - d + 1, \qquad (5.13)$$

where the first equation is (5.7), and the last equation follows since $D_{\mu}c$ is the \bar{c} -shift current. Now we have

$$\Delta_V \stackrel{(5.10)}{=} \Delta_{Q_{\text{BRST}}} - \Delta_{\tilde{c}A}$$

$$\stackrel{(5.11)}{=} \Delta_{Q_{\text{BRST}}} + \Delta_A - \Delta_{Q_{\tilde{c}}}$$

$$\stackrel{(5.12)}{=} \Delta_{D_{\mu}c} - \Delta_{Q_{\tilde{c}}}$$

$$\stackrel{(5.13)}{=} d - 1. \qquad (5.14)$$

The nonrenormalization of the virial current operator in the Banks-Zaks fixed point was first addressed in [52] and reviewed in [8] (see also [53] in $4 - \varepsilon$ dimensions) based on the BRST analysis. We find our argument presented here much simpler and more transparent. The argument in this subsection applies to the Landau-gauge fixed point in the previous subsection, but we have presented it separately from the simpler argument available there.

D. Crystalline membrane theory

We now turn to crystalline membrane theory, which describes a *d*-dimensional membrane fluctuating around its equilibrium flat configuration in the ambient *D*-dimensional space. The most physically interesting case is D = 3, d = 2. The Hamiltonian contains two fundamental fields u_{μ} and h_{a} , with indices $\mu = 1, ..., d$ parallel and a = 1, ..., D - d orthogonal to the membrane [54]

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2} \int d^d x [(\partial^2 h_a)^2 + \lambda (u_{\mu\mu})^2 + 2\mu u_{\mu\nu} u_{\mu\nu}], \quad (5.15)$$

where $u_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{2}(\partial_{\mu}u_{\nu} + \partial_{\nu}u_{\mu} + \partial_{\mu}h_{a}\partial_{\nu}h_{a})$. If we set $h_{a} = 0$, the membrane model reduces to the theory of elasticity, a Gaussian theory which was observed to be scale invariant but not conformal invariant by Riva and Cardy [9]. Below

we focus on the interacting case. In this case there is an IR fixed point at nonzero values of the couplings λ , μ , which can be studied in a perturbative expansion in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$. This is very interesting, as it implies that long-distance correlations of membranes are characterized by nontrivial critical exponents. Moreover, Mauri and Katsnelson [7,55]²⁰ have recently shown that this fixed point is only scale invariant but not conformal. Therefore, it stands with the dipolar fixed point discussed by us as one of the only two currently known experimentally relevant non-Gaussian examples of scale without conformal invariance.

Note that model (5.15), as all models described above, has a shift symmetry, which takes the form $u_{\mu} \rightarrow u_{\mu} + \varepsilon_{\mu}$ with ε_{μ} constant. The importance of this shift symmetry for controlling the renormalization structure of the model was already emphasized in [7]. Reference [7] also discussed the nonrenormalization of the virial current dimension, and shift symmetry played a role in that discussion as well, along with other considerations. Here we wish to show that $\Delta_V = d - 1$ can be understood in model (5.15), as in all previously described models, as a *direct* consequence of shift symmetry, via our general mechanism. We will see, however, that in this model the mechanism operates with a twist compared to the simple Eq. (5.3).

The first step of the argument is to express the trace of the stress tensor and to find a virial current. One finds that the stress tensor contains terms proportional to the beta functions, which vanish at the fixed point, as well as a virial current term [7]

$$T_{\mu\mu}|_{\text{fixed point}} = -\partial_{\mu}V_{\mu} , \quad V_{\mu} = V_{\mu}^{(0)} + \partial_{\nu}\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu},$$

$$V_{\mu}^{(0)} = k_{1}u_{\mu}u_{\nu\nu} + k_{2}u_{\nu}u_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (5.16)$$

where the precise form of the improvable part $\partial_{\nu} O_{\mu\nu}$, and the values of the constants k_1, k_2 will not be important for us.

Next we would like to connect the unimprovable virial current $V^{(0)}_{\mu}$ to the shift-symmetry current, which is given by the expression

$$J_{\mu\nu} = \lambda u_{\alpha\alpha} \delta_{\mu\nu} + 2\mu u_{\mu\nu} \,. \tag{5.17}$$

As in the dipolar model, the shift current in the membrane model acquires a nontrivial scaling dimension Δ_J . We can consider the trace part of the shift current and the traceless symmetric part. Although naively they do not mix under RG, they both should have the same scaling dimension, as a consequence of conservation of J.²¹ We conclude that

$$\Delta(u_{\alpha\alpha}) = \Delta(u_{\mu\nu} - \text{trace}) = \Delta_J. \quad (5.18)$$

To run the general argument for $\Delta_{V^{(0)}} = d - 1$, we consider $[Q_{\nu}, V_{\mu}^{(0)}]$. In Eq. (5.3), this was equal to the shift current itself. In the membrane model, because of the coefficients k_1, k_2 , this is a linear combination of two fields in (5.18) which, however, both have the same dimension as the shift

¹⁹Unlike in (5.7), the coefficient $\Delta_B = 2 - \gamma_A$ in (5.10) remains at its classical value 2 because $\gamma_A = 0$ at this fixed point. This is because the form of the beta-function equation for $\alpha = 1/\xi$ is [51] $\beta_{\alpha} = \alpha \gamma_A$. So the fixed points with $\alpha = 0$, like in the previous subsection, may have $\gamma_A \neq 0$, while the fixed points with $\alpha \neq 0$ should have $\gamma_A = 0$ [8].

²⁰See also these works for a thorough review of prior work on the membrane fixed point.

²¹This is analogous to the trace and the symmetric traceless parts of the stress tensor having the same scaling dimension at the dipolar fixed point (see the discussion in Appendix D 4).

current (this is the twist alluded to above). Therefore, the algebra works out the same, and we conclude that $\Delta_{V^{(0)}} = d - 1$.

Remark 9. The question of scale vs conformal invariance was also raised [56] for the models of elastic membranes embedded in a random environment. These models feature several of fixed points describing various universality classes; see [[57], Sec. 2] for a review. These fixed points describe phase transitions in presence of a random quenched disorder, unlike the fixed points studied in our paper. It is currently an open question if these fixed points are conformal or only scale invariant. In principle, working in the replica formalism, the question of scale vs conformal invariance in disordered fixed points at equilibrium (statics) should be answerable in the same way as for the nondisordered fixed points considered in our paper, i.e., by studying the stress tensor and the virial current of the replicated theory (see, e.g., Appendixes A.5 and A.6 of [58]). It would be interesting to understand this in detail in the future for the models of disordered elastic membranes. Note that disordered elastic membranes also feature a driven phase transition (called depinning transition), reviewed in [[57], Sec. 3]. The equal-time behavior of the depinning transition does not reduce to the equilibrium behavior of the same model. It also features a nontrivial dynamical critical exponent. For these reasons, conformality of the equal-time behavior of the depinning transition is not expected. (The situation is somewhat similar to the directed percolation [59].) This intuition agrees with the measurement of a three-point function reported in [[57], Sec. 3.13], which is not consistent with conformal invariance.²²

E. Gaussian curvature interaction model

Finally, let us consider the Gaussian curvature interaction (GCI) model [64], which provides an alternative description of crystalline membranes. This model is obtained in d = 2 by integrating out u_{μ} in (5.15), and decoupling the resulting nonlocal interactions by introducing a Hubbard-Stratonovich field χ . The resulting effective Hamiltonian can be continued to arbitrary d, and reads as

$$\mathcal{H} = \int d^d x \left(\frac{1}{2} (\partial^2 h_a)^2 + \frac{1}{2\nu} (\partial^2 \chi)^2 + \frac{i}{2} \chi (\partial^2 h_a \partial^2 h_a - \partial_\mu \partial_\nu h_a \partial_\mu \partial_\nu h_a) \right), \qquad (5.19)$$

with v the coupling constant. The Hamiltonian for v = 0 reduces to two copies of biharmonic theory, and it is thus conformal [65]. Instead, when $v \neq 0$ the coupling flows to a fixed point. This fixed point for d = 2 is equivalent to the one considered in the previous subsection, but for generic d it is

distinct. Reference [7] proved that this new fixed point also realizes scale without conformal invariance in any d. They also discussed why the virial current dimension does not get renormalized.

The GCI model has a shift symmetry acting on the field $\boldsymbol{\chi}$ as

$$\chi \to \chi + a + b_{\mu} x_{\mu} , \qquad (5.20)$$

where *a* is a constant scalar and b_{μ} is a constant vector. We will refer to these as a "constant shift symmetry" and "linear shift symmetry."²³ The linear shift symmetry is a feature of the model (5.19) which was not present in other models discussed above.²⁴ This shift symmetry played a role, indirectly, in the discussion of the nonrenormalization of Δ_V in [7], as they connected it to improved UV properties of the model, so that certain loop diagrams were finite.

Here we would also like to connect the nonrenormalization of Δ_V to the linear shift symmetry. However, unlike [7], we would like to give an algebraic argument in the spirit of Eq. (5.3). The virial current of the model has the form

$$V_{\mu} = k_1(\partial_{\mu}\chi)(\partial_{\nu}h_a\partial_{\nu}h_a) + k_2(\partial_{\nu}\chi)(\partial_{\nu}h_a\partial_{\mu}h_a) + \partial_{\nu}\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu}.$$
(5.21)

The k_1 and k_2 are determined at the fixed point after renormalization (see [7] for the renormalized expression, but we do not need them in the following). The $\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu}$ in the improvable part of the virial current is given by

$$\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu} = k_3 \,\partial_\mu \chi \,\partial_\nu \chi + k_4 \delta_{\mu\nu} (\partial_\sigma \chi \,\partial_\sigma \chi) + r_1 \delta_{\mu\nu} \partial^2 \chi + r_2 \partial_\mu \partial_\nu \chi + r_3 \partial_\mu h_a \partial_\nu h_a + r_4 \delta_{\mu\nu} (\partial_\sigma h_a \partial_\sigma h_a) .$$
(5.22)

Without further conditions, all coefficients here are arbitrary. Under the linear shift symmetry, the virial current changes by $b_{\nu}[Q_{\nu}, V_{\mu}]$, where

$$[Q_{\nu}, V_{\mu}] = k_1 \delta_{\mu\nu} (\partial_{\nu} h_a \partial_{\nu} h_a) + k_2 (\partial_{\nu} h_a \partial_{\mu} h_a) + k_3 (\delta_{\mu\nu} \partial^2 \chi + \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \chi) + 2k_4 \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \chi.$$
(5.23)

Note that $\partial_{\nu} \mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu}$ terms corresponding to the second line of (5.22) are linear shift invariant and do not contribute.

We would like to relate the pieces in the right-hand side of this equation to the pieces of the linear shift-symmetry current. The latter is given by

$$J_{\mu\nu} = x_{\nu}\partial_{\rho}K_{\mu\rho} - K_{\mu\nu} , \qquad (5.24)$$

where $Q_{\nu} = \int d\Sigma^{\mu} J_{\mu\nu}$ is the corresponding charge. The symmetric 2-tensor field $K_{\mu\nu}$ enters the EOM for χ , which can be written as

$$\partial_{\mu}\partial_{\nu}K_{\mu\nu} = 0. \qquad (5.25)$$

This implies the conservation of $J_{\mu\nu}$.

²²We thank the anonymous referee to suggesting to us to ponder this question, mentioning [60–63] dealing with the disordered elastic membranes, and pointing out that these models even have a natural candidate for the role of the shift symmetry, the so-called "statistical tilt symmetry." The question is doubly interesting because the disordered elastic membrane fixed points are reputed special, requiring functional RG for their description, with cusplike singularities in the effective potential at criticality.

²³We borrow this terminology from [66]. This is also known as Galilean symmetry [67] or dipolar global symmetry [68].

 $^{^{24}}$ In d = 2, when the crystalline membrane model is equivalent to the GCI model, the linear shift symmetry in this subsection and the shift symmetry in the previous subsection are directly related.

The explicit form of the field $K_{\mu\nu}$, satisfying the "partial conservation law"²⁵ (5.25) is (classically)

$$K_{\mu\nu} = \frac{1}{v} \partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \chi - \frac{i}{2} (\delta_{\mu\nu} \partial_{\rho} h_a \partial_{\rho} h_a - \partial_{\mu} h_a \partial_{\nu} h_a) + A (\partial_{\mu} \partial_{\nu} \chi - \delta_{\mu\nu} \partial^2 \chi) .$$
(5.26)

Here the coefficient *A* of the "improvement term" is arbitrary. We wish to fix it so that $K_{\mu\nu}$ is a good scaling operator. In the following, we do not need to know the explicit value of *A*. Note that, like for the shift current (5.17) from the previous section, the partial conservation of $K_{\mu\nu}$ implies that the whole of $K_{\mu\nu}$ will have the same scaling dimension, i.e., the trace part $\mathcal{K} = K_{\mu\mu}$ and the traceless symmetric part $\mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}$ of $K_{\mu\nu}$ have the same dimension Δ_{K} .

We now consider vector operators on the first level of the linear shift-symmetry multiplets built on top of \mathcal{K} and $\mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}$. These are defined as the operators $\mathcal{V}_{1,\mu}$ and $\mathcal{V}_{2,\mu}$ which have a well-defined scaling dimension and satisfy the equations

$$[Q_{\nu}, \mathcal{V}_{1,\mu}] = \delta_{\mu\nu} \mathcal{K}, \quad [Q_{\nu}, \mathcal{V}_{2,\mu}] = \mathcal{K}_{\mu\nu}.$$
 (5.27)

Since $V_{1,\mu}$ and $V_{2,\mu}$ are scaling operators, we conclude, by Eq. (5.3), that they both have dimension d - 1. Thus, any linear combination

$$\mathcal{V}_{\mu} = p_1 \mathcal{V}_{1,\mu} + p_2 \mathcal{V}_{2,\mu} \tag{5.28}$$

is a candidate virial current.

What is the relation of this construction to the true virial current V_{μ} given above, which transforms under Q_{ν} as (5.23)? Let us choose the constants p_1 , p_2 in \mathcal{V}_{μ} and the improvable terms k_3 , k_4 in V_{μ} so that

$$[Q_{\nu}, V_{\mu} - \mathcal{V}_{\mu}] = 0.$$
 (5.29)

To achieve this, we first determine p_1 and p_2 from k_1 and k_2 by comparing the *h*-dependent terms of (5.26) and (5.23). Then, we fix the shift-noninvariant improvable terms in V_{μ} (i.e., k_3 and k_4) by comparing the χ -dependent terms. The shift-invariant part of V_{μ} is left undetermined.

Now, Eq. (5.29) shows that the difference $v_{\mu} := V_{\mu} - V_{\mu}$ is linear shift invariant. Inspecting all vector operators of the appropriate classical scaling dimension, of schematic form $\partial^3 \chi$, $\partial \chi \partial^2 \chi$ and $\partial h \partial^2 h$, it turns out that all such terms are improvable [[7], Eq. (B.2)], namely, of the form $\partial_{\nu} \mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu}$ with $\mathcal{O}_{\mu\nu}$ in the second line of (5.22). Hence, we can improve the stress tensor, so that the improved virial current is $V'_{\mu} = V_{\mu} - v_{\mu}$. By construction, this final virial current satisfies $V'_{\mu} = \mathcal{V}_{\mu}$, and hence $\Delta_{V'} = d - 1$, completing the argument.

F. Higher derivative shift-symmetric scalar

So far in this section, we have discussed scale-invariant but nonconformal theories proposed in the literature, verifying the nonrenormalization of the virial current. As a further application with unique predictions, let us study an interacting theory of higher derivative shift-symmetric scalar. We consider the

```
<sup>25</sup>Using the terminology of [69].
```

action studied in $[70]^{26}$

$$S = \int d^d x \left(\frac{1}{2} (\partial^2 \varphi)^2 + g (\partial_\mu \varphi \partial_\mu \varphi)^2 \right).$$
 (5.30)

It is invariant under the constant shift $\varphi \rightarrow \varphi + c$. In d = 4, the action is conformal invariant classically (broken by the RG effect), and in any dimensions it is conformal invariant at the noninteracting fixed point $g_* = 0$. It is interesting to see if the interacting fixed point in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$ dimension is scale invariant or conformal invariant. Note that the theory is nonunitary.

The existence of a nontrivial fixed point was confirmed by the perturbative calculation of [70], which is located at $g_* = O(\varepsilon)$ at one loop. The scaling dimension of φ is $\Delta_{\varphi} = \frac{d-4}{2} + \eta$, where the anomalous dimension starts at three loops: $\eta = \frac{1}{25}\varepsilon^3 + O(\varepsilon^4)$ [[70], Eq. (III.47)]. Is this interacting fixedpoint conformal invariant?

One of the results in [70] was that the fixed point is conformal up to one loop in perturbation theory. We will show here that it is only scale invariant if higher orders are taken into account. The crucial observation is that this theory has a shift symmetry generated by the conserved shift current $J_{\mu} = \partial_{\mu}\partial^2\varphi - 4g\partial_{\mu}\varphi\partial_{\nu}\varphi\partial_{\nu}\varphi$. Note that unless g = 0 at the fixed point, the entire J_{μ} cannot be written as a derivative of other local operators. From our general argument of the shift symmetry, the dimension of J_{μ} satisfies $\Delta_J + \Delta_{\varphi} = d - 1$, which implies $\Delta_J = \frac{d+2}{2} - \eta$. The scaling dimension Δ_J is *not* d - 1 (unless d = 4), violating a necessary condition for a conserved *primary* current in conformal field theories. We conclude that the interacting fixed point cannot be conformal within perturbation theory.

Regarding the trace of the stress tensor, a calculation analogous to Sec. IV B shows there is a virial current given by $V_{\mu} = -\Delta_{\varphi} \varphi J_{\mu}$. Thanks to the shift symmetry, our general argument shows that the scaling dimension of V_{μ} is protected to be d - 1 exactly, while this operator is not conserved at the interacting fixed point. A general lesson here is that at interacting fixed points with shift symmetry, it is more natural that they are only scale invariant rather than conformal invariant.

VI. CONCLUSIONS

In this paper we discussed a fascinating RG fixed point which deserves to be more widely known: the dipolar fixed point of Aharony and Fisher, describing the phase transition in isotropic ferromagnets with strong dipole-dipole forces. Our interest in this fixed point was sparked by the realization that it provides an example of an interacting theory that is scale but not conformally invariant. Such examples are rare [8], and experimentally relevant ones are even rarer, the only other one occurring in the physics of fluctuating membranes [7].

One of the most pleasing conclusions of our work is an insight into the role of a shift symmetry in protecting the virial current dimension from loop corrections due to interactions.

²⁶A multicomponent generalization of this model may be related to the membrane theories discussed above. See [71] for more details. The following discussion applies to their models, too.

Since the virial current V_i is mapped by the shift-symmetry charge into the shift-symmetry current, we naturally obtain $\Delta_V = d - 1$. Furthermore, by going through the list of other known interacting scale without conformal models, we found that all of them have a shift symmetry and protect the virial current dimension via the same mechanism or its small variation. While we do not have a proof, could it be that shift symmetry is a necessary feature of such models?

The shift symmetry is always spontaneously broken in the sense that there exists an operator \mathcal{O} , whose variation is a constant (so that $\langle \delta \mathcal{O} \rangle \neq 0$). Usually, we expect that a spontaneously broken global symmetry leads to a massless Nambu-Goldstone boson particle, but, in our examples, this does not happen. Instead, the infrared theory is a scaleinvariant fixed point that is nontrivially interacting, with anomalous dimensions. It is instructive to understand how this is avoided. The key point is that this may only happen in a free theory or in a nonunitary model. Indeed, all our examples were nonunitary.

In unitary (relativistic) quantum field theories, the momentum-space 2pt function of the spontaneously broken current $\langle J_i(q)\mathcal{O}(-q)\rangle = i\frac{q_i}{q^2}$ implies the existence of a massless Nambu-Goldstone boson by inserting the complete momentum eigenstates. In particular, we then predict the existence of a $1/q^2$ pole in the $\langle \mathcal{O}(q)\mathcal{O}(-q)\rangle$ 2pt function. This means that the IR theory is that of a free massless boson (which indeed has a shift symmetry).

On the contrary, the dipolar fixed point, where \mathcal{O} here is given by U, avoids the existence of $1/q^2$ pole in $\langle \mathcal{O}(q)\mathcal{O}(-q)\rangle$. It is allowed to do so because it is nonunitary. Technically, the Lorentzian continuation should give rise to the structure of a Hilbert space with an indefinite metric, i.e., $1 = \sum_n |n\rangle \langle n|$ is replaced with $1 = \sum_n |n\rangle \eta^{nm} \langle m|$, where η^{nm} is not positive definite. The appearance of the indefinite metric η^{nm} avoids the usual argument.

It is still an open question if scale invariance implies conformal invariance in *interacting and unitary* quantum field theories in three dimensions.²⁷ As argued above, such theories cannot have a shift symmetry, so if they exist, the virial current dimension should be protected by another mechanism.

Going back to the dipolar fixed point, although some of its features were observed (as we reviewed in Sec. III), more experimental studies are welcome. The dipolar critical exponents are relatively poorly known compared to the Heisenberg fixed point. Perturbative results are available only at three loops [31]. On the nonperturbative side, we mention preliminary computations of critical exponents using the functional RG [18]. Since the fixed point is not conformal, the conformal bootstrap [72] does not apply. This is then a good concrete model to think about developing bootstrap techniques in the absence of conformal invariance. Indeed, we still have the operator product expansion (OPE). In addition to scale invariance, the model possesses a shift symmetry. The shift multiplets, a notion which we introduced in Sec. IV C, have a particular structure, and may play a role similar to the conformal multiplets in setting up the bootstrap calculation. It is important to ascertain if different operators in the same shift multiplets have their OPE coefficients related. A further hurdle is the lack of unitary, hence, an analog of Gliozzi's method [73] will be called for, instead of techniques based on positivity [74]. This is a hard but very interesting problem.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

S.R. thanks V. Krivorol for discussions related to Sec. III. We thank E. Perlmutter for a prescient question about an axiomatic definition of shift symmetry. S.R. and A.G.G. are supported by the Simons Foundation Grant No. 733758 (Simons Bootstrap Collaboration) and A.G.G. is also supported by the Simons Foundation Grant No. 915279 (IHES). The work by Y.N. is in part supported by JSPS KAKENHI Grant No. 21K03581.

APPENDIX A: DEMAGNETIZING FACTOR

In this Appendix we explain Eq. (3.9) in the main text, needed to interpret all experimental papers measuring magnetic susceptibility. We normalize ϕ as in (3.1), i.e. $\phi = M$.

When a sample is put in an external magnetic field $B_i^{(0)}$, which we assume uniform, it gets magnetized. Magnetization inside the sample $\phi_i(x), x \in \Omega$, can be found by minimizing the Hamiltonian:

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{1}{2} a (\partial \phi_i)^2 + \frac{1}{2} b \phi_i^2 - \phi_i B_i^{(0)} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \iint_{x, y \in \Omega} U_{ij}(x - y) \phi_i(x) \phi_j(y), \qquad (A1)$$

where the integration is over the sample Ω . Suppose we are above T_c , then b > 0 and the quadratic form depending on ϕ_i is positive definite, so the minimizer (with Neumann boundary conditions) exists and is unique. It solves the classical equation of motion

$$-a\partial^2 \phi_i + b\phi_i - B_i^{(0)} + \int_{y \in \Omega} U_{ij}(x - y)\phi_j(y) = 0.$$
 (A2)

The most important particular case arises when the magnetization is constant, in which case the first term in (A2) drops out. There is a consistency condition for this to happen: the integral

$$\int_{y\in\Omega} U_{ij}(x-y) = 4\pi D_{ij} \quad (x\in\Omega)$$
(A3)

must be *x* independent. Famously, this happens if the sample is ellipsoidal; the tensor D_{ij} is then diagonal $D_{ij} = \delta_{ij}D_i$ in the ellipsoid axis. The factors D_i are called demagnetizing factors. For an ellipsoid $\frac{x_1^2}{a_1^2} + \frac{x_2^2}{a_2^2} + \frac{x_3^2}{a_3^2} \leq 1$ they are given by (see, e.g., Sec. 4.18 in [75], the solution relies on ellipsoidal coordinates

²⁷In 4D, Refs. [21,46] proved that a unitary scale-invariant theory *without dimension-2 scalars* must be conformal. With dimension-2 scalars, they showed that the theory is either conformal, or the trace of the stress tensor must have the form $T_{\mu\mu} = \partial^2 \mathcal{A} + \mathcal{B}$ where \mathcal{A} is a dimension-2 scalar, and \mathcal{B} is a generalized free field of dimension 4. The latter loophole is still open to the best of our knowledge.

which are nicely reviewed in Sec. 4 of [76]):

$$D_{i} = \frac{a_{1}a_{2}a_{3}}{2} \int_{0}^{\infty} \frac{ds}{(s+a_{i}^{2})\sqrt{(s+a_{1}^{2})(s+a_{2}^{2})(s+a_{3}^{2})}}.$$
(A4)

In older literature [77,78], the demagnetizing factors were expressed in terms of elliptic integrals and tabulated. However, for practical purposes it is easier nowadays to numerically integrate the definition in (A4). In general we have a relation $D_1 + D_2 + D_3 = 1$ [78], in particular $D = \frac{1}{3}$ for the sphere.

It follows from the above discussion that for ellipsoids the magnetization is constant and is given by Eq. (3.9). If the shape is not ellipsoidal, then one has to solve Eq. (A2), including the first term, so the discussion becomes more complicated. In experiments one usually uses spherical samples. Sometimes cylindrical samples are used, but instead of solving Eq. (A2) one approximates them by ellipsoids and pretends that the magnetization is constant.

In textbooks, magnetization phenomena are usually discussed in terms of the *H* field. Let us see how this is related to the above. Let B_i be the magnetic field produced by the magnetization ϕ_i , and $B^{(0)} + B$ be the total field. We can consider the Hamiltonian in which the magnetic field *B* is explicit [see Eq. (2.8), where we have to rescale ϕ_i to set z = 1, and drop the quartic term]:

$$\int_{\Omega} \left(\frac{1}{2} a(\partial \phi)^2 + \frac{1}{2} \tilde{b} \phi^2 - \phi(B^{(0)} + B) + \frac{1}{8\pi} B^2 \right), \quad (A5)$$

where $B = \nabla \times A$. Varying this Hamiltonian over A we get the equation

$$\nabla \times (B - 4\pi\phi) = 0, \tag{A6}$$

which is usually written as $\nabla \times H = 0$, introducing the field $H = B - 4\pi\phi$.

We can also integrate out *B* from (A5), and get an effective Hamiltonian just in terms of the ϕ field. It is easy to show that this Hamiltonian takes the form (A1) with an important mass shift [see Eq. (2.9) where we need to put z = 1]

$$b = \tilde{b} - 4\pi. \tag{A7}$$

The equation for *H* is usually solved by introducing magnetic potential *U* so that $H = -\nabla U$. The condition that *B* is solenoidal then gives

$$\nabla^2 U = 4\pi \, \nabla \cdot \phi, \tag{A8}$$

and see, e.g., [79] for appropriate boundary conditions that U must satisfy on the boundary of the sample. For constant magnetization ϕ , one finds

$$U(x) = \int_{\partial\Omega} d^2 x' \frac{n'\phi}{|x - x'|},$$
 (A9)

which gives the H field inside the sample:

$$H(x) = -4\pi D_{ij}(x)\phi_j, \quad x \in \Omega$$
 (A10)

$$D_{ij}(x) = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\partial\Omega} d^2 x' \partial_{x_j} \frac{1}{|x - x'|} n'_j = \frac{1}{4\pi} \int_{\Omega} d^3 x' U_{ij}(x - x'),$$
(A11)

by Stokes' theorem. As we already discussed for the ellipsoidal sample the last integral does not depend on x and agrees with the demagnetizing factor defined in (A3).

Finally, let us derive Eq. (3.9). Extremizing the Hamiltonian (A5) over ϕ we get, assuming ϕ and *B* are constant inside the sample,

$$\tilde{b}\phi_i = B_i^{(0)} + B_i. \tag{A12}$$

Substituting into this equation $B = H + 4\pi\phi$ and $H_i = -4\pi D_i\phi_i$, and using the mass shift relation (A7), we get precisely (3.9). Defining the total *H* field $H^t = B^{(0)} + H$, Eq. (3.9) can also be written as

$$\phi = b^{-1} H^t. \tag{A13}$$

APPENDIX B: EXPERIMENTAL DATA

In this Appendix we describe the experimental data used to extract Table I.

1. Amplitude C

This amplitude is measured from the static susceptibility above the Curie temperature $\chi = \frac{\partial M}{\partial H^t}|_{H^t=0}$. Here H^t is the total H field in the sample, i.e., $H^t = H^{(0)} + H$, where $H^{(0)} = B^{(0)}$ is the applied field, and $H = -4\pi DM$ is the field associated with the magnetization of the sample (see Appendix A for details). Susceptibility varies as $\chi = Ct^{-\gamma}$ near the Curie point, which is consistent with (3.10) using Eq. (A13). In this paper we work in the Gaussian units, and must keep careful track of factors of 4π compared to the literature.

EuS: We use [35] for the susceptibility near $T_c = 16.56$ K. They report their results in terms of normalized magnetization $m = M/M_0$ and applied field $h = H/H_c$. Thus, our amplitude *C* is related to the value Γ they report as $C_{\text{EuS}} = \Gamma M_0/H_c$, with the measured values $(\Gamma, 4\pi M_0, H_c)_{\text{EuS}} = (0.45, 15.4 \text{ kOe}, 35.4 \text{ kOe}),^{28}$ which gives $C_{\text{EuS}} \approx 0.016$. Note that we extract Γ from their Fig. 3 as the point where the upper curve intersects the *y* axis, so Γ is slightly larger than what they call Γ_0 . [Same Γ can also be extracted from the right part (small *m*) of the lower curve in their Fig. 1.]

EuO: Similarly to EuS ($T_c = 69.1$ K), the measures for EuO are (Γ , $4\pi M_0$, H_c)_{EuO} = (0.397, 24 kOe, 146 kOe) [80], giving $C_{\text{EuO}} \approx 0.052$.

Fe: In [36], the susceptibility for iron is reported as $\chi = T_1^{\gamma} (T - T_c)^{-\gamma}$ so $C_{\text{Fe}} = (T_1/T_c)^{\gamma}$ with $(T_1, T_c, \gamma) = (1.27 \text{ K}, 1043 \text{ K}, 1.333).$

Ni: We use a recent comprehensive Ref. [37]. Since they work in SI units, the susceptibility is $\chi^{\text{there}} = 4\pi \chi^{\text{here}}$, so the amplitude is $C_{\text{Ni}} = J_0/(4\pi h_0)$. They fit the data in two different ways, and we take the best which includes corrections to scaling (CTS). We take $h_0/J_0 = 1991.5$, the average over the four samples of different shapes.

²⁸One must be careful because $M^{\text{there}} = 4\pi M^{\text{here}}$ because they write $H = H_{\text{ext}} - NM$ and their demagnetizing factor for a sphere is $N = \frac{1}{3}$.

2. Amplitude f^+

This amplitude is measured from the divergence of the correlation length $\xi = f^+t^{-\nu}$ in neutron scattering experiments above the Curie temperature. Reference [38] considers both EuS and EuO, and in their notation $f^+ = a_{nn}/F^+$ with $(F^+, a_{nn})_{\text{EuS}} = (2.33, 4.22 \text{ Å})$ and $(F^+, a_{nn})_{\text{EuO}} = (2.32, 3.64 \text{ Å})$. For iron, the amplitude is reported in [81] as $f^+ = 1/A$ with $A = 1.1 \text{ Å}^{-1}$. This value also fits reasonably well the data in Table I of [82] and in Table V of [83]. For nickel, we use f^+ reported in [84] (called ξ_0 there).

APPENDIX C: MICROSCOPIC MODEL

This Appendix estimates the parameters a and b in the Hamiltonian (3.3) starting from a microscopic model of dipoles. After presenting the model, we study it in mean-field theory using a Hubbard-Stratonovich transformation. We conclude by comparing the results for EuS and EuO to the experimental Table I.

1. Model

Consider a system of atoms in a cubic lattice of type sc, bcc, or fcc. The atom at point x has dipole moment $\vec{m} = (m^i)_{i=1,2,3}$ of magnitude $|\vec{m}| = \mu$. The dipoles interact with a dynamical magnetic field \vec{B} , so the partition function is

$$Z = \int D\vec{B} \prod_{x} d^{3}m_{x} \,\delta\left(\vec{m}_{x}^{2} - \mu^{2}\right) \exp(-\beta \mathcal{H}[m, B]) \,. \quad (C1)$$

Recall that the energy felt by a dipole in a magnetic field is $-\vec{m} \cdot \vec{B}$. At site *x* the total magnetic field is $\vec{B}_x^t \equiv \vec{B}^{(0)}(x) + \vec{B}(x)$, where $\vec{B}^{(0)}$ is a background field and \vec{B} is dynamical. In total, the electromagnetic part of the Hamiltonian is

$$\mathcal{H}_{\rm EM} = -\sum_{x} \vec{m}_{x} \cdot \vec{B}_{x}^{t} + \frac{1}{8\pi} \int d^{3}x \, \vec{B}(x)^{2} \,. \tag{C2}$$

Aside from electromagnetic interactions, the dipoles experience short-range ferromagnetic interactions, which can be modeled with the Hamiltonian

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{short range}} = \frac{J}{4c} \sum_{x,\delta} (\vec{m}_x - \vec{m}_{x+\delta})^2 - J\theta \sum_x \vec{m}_x^2 \,. \tag{C3}$$

Here J is the interaction strength, δ runs over nearest neighbors, and c is the number of nearest neighbors. Because of the integration measure (C1), the term proportional to θ only changes the partition function by an overall normalization. We then expect that sensible predictions of our model should be independent of θ . We choose $\theta > 1$, which ensures that if we rewrite the interactions as

$$\mathcal{H}_{\text{short range}} = -\frac{1}{2} \sum_{x,y} \vec{m}_x K_{xy} \vec{m}_y \,, \tag{C4}$$

then the quadratic form K_{xy} is positive definite, a property necessary for the Hubbard-Stratonovich transformation.

2. Hubbard-Stratonovich transformation

To compare with the Hamiltonian (3.3), we need to express the partition function in terms of a coarse-grained

PHYSICAL REVIEW B 110, 024421 (2024)

magnetization that is not restricted by $|\vec{m}| = \mu$. This is achieved with a Hubbard-Stratonovich transformation²⁹

$$Z = \int \prod_{x} d^{3}\lambda_{x} d^{3}m_{x} \,\delta(m_{x}^{2} - \mu^{2}) \exp \left(-\frac{\beta}{2} \sum_{x,y} \vec{\lambda}_{x} K_{xy}^{-1} \vec{\lambda}_{y} + \beta \sum_{x} \vec{m}_{x} \cdot (\vec{\lambda}_{x} + \vec{B}_{x}^{t})\right). \quad (C5)$$

For clarity, we ignore terms that only change the normalization of the partition function. We also omit the action for the dynamical magnetic field \vec{B} , but we shall restore it at the end. Now we integrate over \vec{m} using

$$\frac{1}{4\pi} \int d^3 m \,\delta(\vec{m}^2 - 1) \exp(\vec{m} \cdot \vec{v})$$

= $\frac{\sinh |\vec{v}|}{|\vec{v}|} = \exp\left(\frac{1}{6}\vec{v}^2 - \frac{1}{180}(\vec{v}^2)^2 + \cdots\right),$ (C6)

where $\vec{v} = \beta \mu (\vec{\lambda} + \vec{B}^t)$. Since we are interested in a meanfield theory analysis, we drop quartic powers of \vec{v} and higher, so

$$\mathcal{H} = \frac{1}{2} \sum_{x,y} \vec{\lambda}_x K_{xy}^{-1} \vec{\lambda}_y - \frac{\beta \mu^2}{6} \sum_x \left(\vec{\lambda}_x + \vec{B}_x^t \right)^2.$$
(C7)

This depends on the field $\vec{\lambda}$ that takes arbitrary real values, so we can interpret $\vec{\lambda}$ as a coarse-grained field related to the magnetization, with the precise relation given below. That the last term in (C7) comes with a negative coefficient is physically reasonable: lowering the temperature should have an ordering effect.

Now we should evaluate the inverse of the quadratic form *K*. Before calculating the inverse, note that for $\vec{\lambda}$ varying slowly compared to the lattice size, *K* acts as³⁰

$$\sum_{x,y} \vec{\lambda}_x K_{xy} \vec{\lambda}_y = \int d^3 x \left(\frac{2J\theta}{V} \vec{\lambda}^2 - \frac{Ja^2}{6V} (\partial_i \vec{\lambda})^2 + O(\partial^4 \lambda^2) \right).$$
(C8)

In the previous equation, a is the nearest-neighbor distance and V is the volume of the unit cell, which appears in the continuum limit $\sum_x \rightarrow \int \frac{d^3x}{V}$. Now we can invert K using (C8) and treating the kinetic term as a perturbation, so $(I - \varepsilon A)^{-1} \approx I + \varepsilon A$. This approximation is valid for sufficiently slow fluctuations or, in other words, the higher-order terms are irrelevant in the RG sense. Combining all the ingredients, we arrive at

$$\mathcal{H} = \int d^3x \left(\frac{1}{2} c_1 (\partial_i \vec{\lambda})^2 + \frac{1}{2} c_2 \vec{\lambda}^2 - \frac{1}{2} c_3 (\vec{\lambda} + \vec{B}^t)^2 \right), \quad (C9)$$

where c_i are given by

$$c_1 = \frac{a^2}{24\theta^2 JV}, \quad c_2 = \frac{1}{2\theta JV}, \quad c_3 = \frac{\beta \mu^2}{3V}.$$
 (C10)

²⁹See, e.g., [85] for a detailed introduction.

³⁰We use the relation $\sum_{\delta} (q\delta)(p\delta) = \frac{c}{3} a^2 qp$, which is valid for cubic lattices. Here *c* is the coordination number of the lattice, and the distance to nearest neighbors is $|\delta| = a$.

Now we redefine

$$\vec{\lambda} = p\vec{B}^t + q\vec{\phi}, \quad p = -1/(1 + \sqrt{c_2/c_3}), \quad q = 1/\sqrt{c_2c_3}.$$
(C11)

Here *p* is chosen so that the term $(\vec{B}^t)^2$ has zero coupling, and *q* so that the linear term $-\vec{B}^t \cdot \vec{\phi}$ is unit normalized. This ensures that $\vec{\phi}$ is the correct coarse-grained magnetization because it satisfies $\langle \vec{\phi} \rangle = \frac{1}{\beta} \frac{\delta \log Z}{\delta B^{(0)}}$. The action in terms of $\vec{\phi}$ takes the form

$$\mathcal{H} = \int d^3x \left(\frac{c_1}{2c_2c_3} (\partial_i \vec{\phi})^2 + \frac{c_2 - c_3}{2c_2c_3} \vec{\phi}^2 - \vec{B}^t \cdot \vec{\phi} \right). \quad (C12)$$

Here we ignored terms $\partial_i \vec{B}^t = \partial_i \vec{B}^{(0)} + \partial_i \vec{B}$, justified for a sufficiently homogeneous external field and, for $\partial_i \vec{B}$, because upon integrating out the magnetic field \vec{B} , these terms will generate higher derivative interactions, which are more irrelevant in the RG sense.

Finally, we add the action $\frac{1}{8\pi} \int \vec{B}^2$ for the dynamical magnetic field and integrate it out, as explained in Appendix A. This generates the long-range term $\phi U \phi$, and adds -4π correction to the mass. The effective Hamiltonian comes out to be

$$\mathcal{H} = \int d^3x \left(\frac{1}{2} a (\partial_i \vec{\phi})^2 + \frac{1}{2} b \vec{\phi}^2 - \vec{B}^{(0)} \cdot \vec{\phi} \right) + \frac{1}{2} \int d^3x \, d^3y \, \phi^i(x) \phi^j(y) U_{ij}(x-y) \,, \qquad (C13)$$

where

$$a = \frac{a^2 V}{4\beta\theta\mu^2}, \quad b = \frac{3V}{\beta\mu^2} - 2\theta J V - 4\pi.$$
 (C14)

We see that our calculation gave an effective Hamiltonian of the same form as (3.3) and (A1) considered above. Note that the coefficient $b \propto \beta^{-1}$ at $\beta \ll 1$. This is in agreement with Curie's law, that the susceptibility $\chi \propto 1/T$ at high temperatures.

The identification of the correct coarse-grained magnetization ϕ in terms of λ was crucial in the above line of reasoning. The derivation is robust and would work for any quadratic Hamiltonian density of the form $k_1(\partial \lambda)^2 + k_2\lambda^2 + 2k_3\lambda B^t + k_4(B^t)^2$ as long as the quadratic form $k_2x^2 + 2k_3xy + k_4y^2$ is not sign definite.

3. Comparison to europium compounds

We now apply these results to the ferromagnetic insulators EuS and EuO. These compounds form an fcc lattice of the rock-salt type, so the nearest-neighbor distance is related to the lattice constant a' by $a = a'/\sqrt{2}$, and the volume of the unit cell is $V = a^3/\sqrt{2}$ (Fig. 2). As experimental inputs, we will use the lattice constant and the critical temperature of these materials:

EuS:
$$a' = 5.96 \text{ Å}$$
, $T_c = 16 \text{ K}$,
EuO: $a' = 5.14 \text{ Å}$, $T_c = 69 \text{ K}$. (C15)

In the europium compounds, the Eu²⁺ ions are responsible for the dipole interactions. The europium ion has spin $S = \frac{7}{2}$ so the Landé *g* factor is g = 2. The magnitude of the dipole



FIG. 2. Fcc lattice structure of EuX, X = S,O.

moment is then $\mu = g\mu_B \sqrt{S(S+1)}$, where μ_B is the Bohr magneton.

We start estimating the coupling J. For this we use that $b(T_c) = 0$, where b is given in (C14). We obtain

$$J = \frac{3k_B T_c}{2\theta \mu^2} - \frac{2\pi}{\theta V} \,. \tag{C16}$$

As a side comment, note that we can introduce a parameter \hat{g} that measures the relative shift of the critical temperature due to dipolar effects, namely,

$$\hat{g} = \frac{T_c - T_c^{\text{Heis}}}{T_c} = \frac{4\pi\,\mu^2}{3k_B T_c V}\,,$$
 (C17)

where T_c^{Heis} is defined as the temperature where b^{Heis} vanishes, which is defined by dropping in the expression for *b* the 4π term, which is due to dipolar effects. It is in this meaning that quantity \hat{g} was introduced by Aharony and Fisher [1], who used it to estimate the size of dipolar effects. (Note that the expression for \hat{g} in [1] is a factor of 3 smaller than ours, while another paper by the same authors [2] leads to \hat{g} that is a factor 3 larger than ours, see Remark 10 below.) Using the experimental values (C15), we evaluate

$$\hat{g}_{\rm EuS} = 0.19$$
, $\hat{g}_{\rm EuO} = 0.07$. (C18)

Knowing J we can find a and b in (C14). Expanding near T_c , we obtain

$$b = C^{-1}t, \quad \xi = (a/b)^{1/2} = f^+ t^{-1/2},$$
 (C19)

with the following expressions for the critical amplitudes:

$$C = \frac{\mu^2}{3k_B T_c V}, \quad f^+ = \frac{a}{2\sqrt{3\theta}}.$$
 (C20)

Recall that $\theta > 1$ is an arbitrary parameter that we introduced to make the quadratic form in (C4) positive definite. If we could compute the partition function exactly, then θ would only affect the overall normalization without changing physical observables. The fact that f^+ depends on θ suggests that this prediction has to be taken with a grain of salt, unlike the predictions for \hat{g} and T_c , which are robust. Keeping this caveat in mind, we choose an arbitrary order-one value for θ . For example, using $\theta = 2$ we find

EuS:
$$C = 15 \times 10^{-3}$$
, $f^+ = 0.77 \text{ Å}$, (C21)

EuO:
$$C = 5.6 \times 10^{-3}$$
, $f^+ = 0.72$ Å. (C22)

The predictions for *C* are within <10% error compared to the experimental values in Table I, while the estimates for f^+ are off by a factor of 2.

Remark 10. Reference [2] passes from the microscopic theory to the effective theory using an alternative method, which goes back to [22,86]. Their method amounts to replacing the Heisenberg model integration measure, with its restriction $\vec{m}^2 = \mu^2$, by a centered Gaussian of width of order μ :

$$\delta(\vec{m}^2 - 1) \rightarrow \exp\left(-\frac{w}{2\mu^2}\vec{m}^2 + \cdots\right),$$
 (C23)

where w = 1 in [2], but we keep it general to see how it affects the final result. The \cdots includes some quartic interaction terms, which are not important for the present discussion.

After the replacement, the partition function becomes a Gaussian integral:

$$Z \to \int D\vec{B} \prod_{x} d^{3}m_{x} \exp\left(-\beta \mathcal{H}[m, B] - \frac{w}{2\mu^{2}} \sum_{x} \vec{m}_{x}^{2} + \cdots\right).$$
(C24)

It is now straightforward to take the continuum limit of the Hamiltonian using (C8), and to integrate out the dynamical \vec{B} field. In this approach, the continuum limit of \vec{m} is directly the coarse-grained magnetization, with no additional rescaling needed. The effective Hamiltonian is of the form (3.3) and (C13), with effective parameters (AF stands for Aharony-Fisher)

$$a_{\rm AF} = \frac{{\rm a}^2 JV}{6} \,, \quad b_{\rm AF} = \frac{wV}{\beta\mu^2} - 2\theta JV - 4\pi \,.$$
 (C25)

Here we also allowed for the ambiguity θ , of the same origin as in Appendix C2. Reference [2] does not discuss it and uses directly $\theta = \frac{1}{2}$.

We now trade the short-range coupling J by the critical temperature T_c . In solving for J, we consider w and θ as number independent of J and β . All in all, we find

$$C_{\rm AF} = \frac{\mu^2}{wk_B T_c V}, \quad f_{\rm AF}^+ = \frac{a}{2\sqrt{3\theta}} \sqrt{1 - \hat{g}_{\rm AF}},$$
$$\hat{g}_{\rm AF} = \frac{4\pi\mu^2}{wk_B T_c V}.$$
(C26)

Comparing these equations to (C17) and (C20), we see that the method of [2] does not agree with ours for w = 1 used in [2], while it would agree for w = 3, up to $O(\hat{g})$ corrections in f^+ which are small. Even this partial agreement is quite surprising, given that the replacement in (C23) is rather *ad hoc*. It cannot be considered in any sense an *approximation*, as it does not even conserve the rough shape of the potential. Our approach based on the Hubbard-Stratonovich transformation seems better justified.

APPENDIX D: TRACE OF STRESS TENSOR IN DIPOLAR MODEL

In this Appendix we renormalize the dipolar model (4.14), using methods analogous to [87], putting the discussion of Secs. IV B and IV C on solid ground. To summarize the strategy, we construct a renormalized stress tensor, a renormalized

virial current, and a renormalized shift charge. Furthermore, we show it is possible to improve both the stress tensor and the virial current to make them good scaling operators. Finally, we show that under shift symmetry the virial current maps to ϕ_i . By the discussion in Sec. IV C, this implies the virial current has dimension $\Delta_V = d - 1$.

1. Basic notation

We work with the Hamiltonian (4.14), except that we rename $\lambda \to \lambda_0$. Throughout this Appendix, ϕ_i and U are bare fields and λ_0 is the bare coupling. We denote renormalized fields [\mathcal{O}] and renormalized coupling λ , namely,

$$\phi_{i} = Z_{\phi}[\phi_{i}], \quad U = Z_{U}[U],$$

$$\lambda_{0} = \mu^{\varepsilon} \lambda \left(1 + \frac{a_{11}\lambda + a_{12}\lambda^{2} + \dots}{\varepsilon} + \frac{a_{22}\lambda^{2} + \dots}{\varepsilon^{2}} + \dots \right).$$

(D1)

The renormalization factors Z_O and a_{ij} follow from requiring finiteness of all correlation functions of renormalized operators

$$G_{N,M}(x_1, \dots, x_N; y_1, \dots, y_M) = \langle [\phi_{i_1}](x_1) \dots [\phi_{i_N}](x_N) [U](y_1) \dots [U](y_M) \rangle.$$
(D2)

From the fact that $\langle \phi_i(x) U(y) \rangle$ does not receive perturbative corrections, as discussed below Eq. (2.13), we conclude that $Z_U = Z_{\phi}^{-1}$.

The beta function is $\beta(\lambda) = \mu \frac{d\lambda}{d\mu}$ and the anomalous dimensions are $\gamma_{\mathcal{O}} = \mu \frac{d \log Z_{\mathcal{O}}}{d\mu}$. Unlike in the main text, we keep track of equations of motion (EOM)

$$E_{i} \equiv \frac{\delta \tilde{\mathcal{H}}}{\delta \phi_{i}} = -\partial_{j} f_{ji} + \partial_{i} U + \lambda_{0} (\phi_{k}^{2}) \phi_{i} , \quad E \equiv \frac{\delta \tilde{\mathcal{H}}}{\delta U} = -\partial_{i} \phi_{i} ,$$
(D3)

since they are necessary to show that correlation functions satisfy scaling Ward identities at the fixed point.

The stress tensor, defined by the formula $T^{ij} = -2\frac{\delta\tilde{\mathcal{H}}}{\delta g_{ij}}$ (see footnote 13), reads as

$$T_{ij} = f_{ik}f_{jk} + \phi_i\partial_j U + \phi_j\partial_i U + \lambda_0\phi_k^2\phi_i\phi_j - \delta_{ij}\left(\frac{1}{4}f_{kl}^2 + \phi_k\partial_k U + \frac{\lambda_0}{4}\phi^4\right).$$
(D4)

As expected, it is conserved up to EOM:

$$\partial_i T_{ij} = -E_i \,\partial_j \phi_i - E \,\partial_j U + \partial_i (E_i \,\phi_j) \,. \tag{D5}$$

The trace of the stress tensor works out to be [compare Eq. (4.16)]

$$T_{ii} = -\frac{\varepsilon}{4}\lambda_0\phi^4 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\phi_i E_i - \frac{d}{2}UE - \partial_i V_i, \qquad (D6)$$

$$V_i = \frac{d}{2}\phi_i U + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\phi_i E - \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\partial_j \left(\frac{1}{2}\phi^2 \delta_{ij} - \phi_i \phi_j\right).$$
(D7)

Expressed in terms of bare fields, T_{ij} should be thought of as a bare stress tensor. Below we will discuss how to make it finite. The first step is to express T_{ij} and V_i in terms of renormalized couplings and renormalized operators.

2. Composite operators

To organize the operators, note that the Hamiltonian (4.14) enjoys a \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry, under which ϕ_i and U are both odd. There is also a shift symmetry $U(x) \rightarrow U(x) + u$ for constant u, with associated current ϕ_i . We discussed this extra symmetry in Sec. IV C. The renormalized shift charge is defined by integrating the renormalized current $[\phi_i]$. Thus, we have the relation

$$Q = Z_{\phi}[Q] \tag{D8}$$

between the bare and renormalized shift charges.

Note that operators neutral under shift symmetry only mix with neutral operators, while operators charged under shift symmetry can mix with everything. Once all operators that can mix under renormalization are identified, then the precise renormalization factors should be determined from the requirement that correlators with composite operator insertions should be finite. More precisely, Green's functions of the form

$$G_{N,M}(x_1, \dots, x_N; y_1, \dots, y_M; [\mathcal{O}](x))$$

= $\langle [\phi_{i_1}](x_1) \dots [U](y_1) \dots [\mathcal{O}](x) \rangle$ (D9)

should be finite. For EOM terms this criterion immediately shows that they do not renormalize

$$\phi_i E_i = [\phi_i E_i], \quad UE = [UE]. \tag{D10}$$

This is because the insertions of $\phi_i E_i$ and of UE into correlation functions simply generate δ functions at the positions of ϕ_i 's and of U's, respectively, as in [87], Eq. (3.10). A similar argument shows that

$$\phi_i E = (Z_\phi)^2 [\phi E] \,. \tag{D11}$$

Let us start renormalizing the simplest composite operators, namely, ϕ_i^2 and $\Phi_{ij} := \phi_i \phi_j - \frac{\delta_{ij}}{d} \phi_k^2$. Note that these are the only scalar and symmetric traceless operators even under \mathbb{Z}_2 , neutral under the shift symmetry, and of 4D dimension $\Delta_{4D} =$ 2. As a result, they can only get multiplicatively renormalized $\phi_i^2 = Z_{\phi^2}[\phi_i^2], \Phi_{ij} = Z_{\Phi}[\Phi_{ij}].$

The next case of interest is the renormalization of $U\phi_i$. In this case, mixing occurs with vector operators that are \mathbb{Z}_2 even, either charged or neutral under shift symmetry, and of 4D dimension $\Delta_{4D} = 3$. A basis of linearly independent functions is $\{U\phi_i, \phi_i\partial_j\phi_j, \partial_i\phi^2, \partial_j(\phi_i\phi_j)\}$. So $U\phi_i$ will be a linear combination of the corresponding renormalized operators:

$$U\phi_i = (1 + \hat{c}_1)[U\phi_i] + \hat{c}_2[\phi_i E] + \hat{c}_3 \partial_i[\phi^2] + \hat{c}_4 \partial_j[\Phi_{ij}].$$
(D12)

Here $\hat{c}_i = \hat{c}_i(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ are counterterms that make the renormalized operators finite, which have an ascending series of poles in ε starting at $O(\varepsilon^{-1})$. All such quantities below will carry a hat. The last two terms are total derivatives, so they only modify the virial current by improvement terms. We can further argue that $\hat{c}_1 = 0$. For this let us act by [Q] on both sides of (D12). Using (D8) we obtain

$$[\phi_i] = (1 + \hat{c}_1)[[Q], [U\phi_i]], \qquad (D13)$$

where we used the fact that all operators but the first in the right-hand side of (D12) are shift invariant. Since the left-hand side of (D13) is finite, the right-hand side must be finite as well, hence $\hat{c}_1 = 0$.

The other case of interest is the renormalization of ϕ^4 . In this case, we need a basis of $\Delta_{4D} = 4$ operators, which are shift neutral and \mathbb{Z}_2 even:

$$\{\phi^4, \phi_i \partial_i U, \phi_i \partial_i \partial_j \phi_j, \phi_i \partial^2 \phi_i, \partial_i (\phi_i \partial_j \phi_j), \partial^2 \phi^2, \partial_i \partial_j (\phi_i \phi_j)\}.$$
(D14)

Note that one linear combination of operators in (D14) corresponds to $\phi_i E_i$, where E_i is the EOM for ϕ_i . Similarly, we identify terms $\partial_i \phi_i$ with E, the EOM for U. Finally, the term $\phi_i \partial_i U$ is related to the finite operator UE by integration by parts, so it must have a finite integral. As a result, it can only get infinite contributions that are total derivatives:

$$\phi_i \partial_i U = [\phi_i \partial_i U] + \hat{q}_2 \partial_i [\phi_i E] + \hat{q}_3 \partial^2 [\phi^2] + \hat{q}_4 \partial_i \partial_j [\Phi_{ij}].$$
(D15)

Again $\hat{q}_i = \hat{q}_i(\lambda, \varepsilon)$ are ascending series in poles in ε starting at $O(\varepsilon^{-1})$. Comparing to (D12), we can rearrange the equation as

$$\begin{aligned} [\phi_i \partial_i U] &- [EU] - \partial_i [U\phi_i] \\ &= (\hat{c}_2 - \hat{q}_2) \, \partial_i [\phi_i E] + (\hat{c}_3 - \hat{q}_3) \, \partial^2 [\phi^2] \\ &+ (\hat{c}_4 - \hat{q}_4) \, \partial_i \partial_j [\Phi_{ij}]. \end{aligned}$$
(D16)

Since the left-hand side is finite and the right-hand side goes like $O(\varepsilon^{-1})$, the right-hand side must vanish. We conclude that renormalization preserves integration by parts

$$[\phi_i \partial_i U] = [EU] + \partial_i [U\phi_i], \qquad (D17)$$

a fact that will be useful below.

After these technical remarks, we see that the most general form of the renormalized quartic field is

$$\frac{\lambda_0}{4}\phi^4 = (1+\hat{k}_1)\frac{\mu^{\varepsilon}\lambda}{4}[\phi^4] + \hat{k}_2[\phi_i E_i] + \hat{k}_3[\phi_i\partial_i U] + \hat{k}_4[\phi_i\partial_i E] + \hat{k}_5\partial_i[\phi_i E] + \hat{k}_6\partial^2[\phi^2] + \hat{k}_7\partial_i\partial_j[\Phi_{ij}].$$
(D18)

We will see in a second that $\hat{k}_1, \ldots, \hat{k}_4$ only have a simple pole in ε , which is a consequence of requiring that $\partial_{\lambda}G_{N,M}$ is finite. A similar trick was used in [87], Eq. (3.19). Using the chain rule, the derivative $\partial_{\lambda_0}G_{N,M}$ inserts an integrated bare operator $\int \phi^4$. As a result of the integration, all total derivative terms drop out, hence, \hat{k}_5 , \hat{k}_6 , \hat{k}_7 cannot be determined by this trick but need an explicit computation of the divergence which we will not do.

As to the trick, the precise calculation is analogous to [87], and one finds³¹

$$\hat{k}_1 = -\frac{\beta(\lambda) + \varepsilon\lambda}{\lambda \varepsilon}, \quad \hat{k}_2 = -\hat{k}_3 = \frac{\gamma_{\phi}}{\varepsilon}, \quad \hat{k}_4 = 0, \quad (D19)$$

³¹We point out a minor difference in our notation from [87]. Reference [87] denotes by $\beta(\lambda)$ the 4D part of the beta function, while the beta function in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$ is given by $\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \lambda|_{\text{Brown}} = -\varepsilon \lambda + \beta(\lambda)$. On the other hand, we denote by $\beta(\lambda)$ the full beta function in $d = 4 - \varepsilon$: $\mu \frac{d}{d\mu} \lambda|_{\text{here}} = \beta(\lambda)$.

which also used integration by parts as in (D17). All in all, the renormalization of the quartic operator reads as

$$\frac{\lambda_0}{4}\phi^4 = -\frac{\mu^{\varepsilon}\beta(\lambda)}{4\varepsilon}[\phi^4] + \frac{\gamma_{\phi}}{\varepsilon}[\phi_i E_i] - \frac{\gamma_{\phi}}{\varepsilon}[\phi_i \partial_i U] + \hat{k}_5, \hat{k}_6, \hat{k}_7 \text{ terms}.$$
(D20)

Using this equation and (D12), we can finally express the trace (D6) of the stress tensor in terms of renormalized operators. The result looks more elegant using a further integration by parts with (D17), giving

$$T_{ii} = \frac{\mu^{\varepsilon} \beta(\lambda)}{4} [\phi^4] - (\Delta_{\phi} - 1) [\phi_i E_i] - \Delta_U [UE] - \Delta_U \partial_i [U\phi_i] - p \partial_i [\phi_i E] - \partial_i \partial_j \mathcal{O}_{ij} .$$
(D21)

The scaling dimensions are defined in (2.14), the improvement is $\mathcal{O}_{ij} = a[\phi^2]\delta_{ij} + b[\Phi_{ij}]$, and furthermore

$$p = \frac{d}{2}\hat{c}_2 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}(Z_{\phi})^2 + \varepsilon\hat{k}_5, \qquad (D22)$$

$$a = \frac{d}{2}\hat{c}_3 - \frac{\varepsilon}{2}\left(\frac{1}{2} - \frac{1}{d}\right)Z_{\phi^2} + \varepsilon\hat{k}_6, \quad b = \frac{d}{2}\hat{c}_4 + \frac{\varepsilon}{2}Z_{\Phi} + \varepsilon\hat{k}_7.$$
(D23)

In expressing p we also used (D11). It will follow from the next subsection that p is finite (this is not clear from above).

3. Finiteness of stress tensor

Let us discuss the structure of counterterms for the stress tensor and the virial current. As already mentioned T_{ij} is a bare stress tensor, and it is not in general finite. We see that its trace (D21), expressed in terms of renormalized fields, involves coefficients p, a, b which are potentially singular as $\varepsilon \rightarrow 0$.

However, all fields in the divergence of T_{ij} [Eq. (D5)], proportional to EOM, are in fact finite [compare [87], (3.29)]:

$$\partial_i T_{ij} \sim \text{EOM}$$
 (finite). (D24)

This strongly constrains possible divergences of T_{ij} .

Similarly to how we expressed T_{ii} in terms of finite operators, we could do the same for the remaining symmetric traceless part of T_{ij} (see, e.g., the analysis in [87] for the ϕ^4 case). Note that the symmetric traceless and trace parts of T_{ij} do not mix under renormalization, so that analysis would not affect the renormalization of T_{ii} that we already discussed. To save time, we will avoid renormalizing here the symmetric traceless part of T_{ij} explicitly. However, by now it should not be a surprise that this can be done.

We can then split T_{ij} into a finite piece, which we call $[T_{ij}]$, and a divergent piece that we call \hat{R}_{ij} :

$$T_{ij} = [T_{ij}] + \hat{R}_{ij}$$
. (D25)

The requirement that $\partial_i(T_{ij} - [T_{ij}])$ should be finite implies that $\partial_i \hat{R}_{ij} = 0$, where this conservation does not rely on EOM. To begin with, this implies that the Poincaré charges P_i , M_{ij} constructed by integrating T_{ij} and $[T_{ij}]$ coincide. The divergent piece \hat{R}_{ij} drops out from them: the Poincaré charges are finite. Furthermore, \hat{R}_{ij} as any symmetric 2-tensor field satisfying the condition $\partial_i \hat{R}_{ij} = 0$ can be written in the form

$$\hat{R}_{ij} = \partial_k \partial_l \hat{Y}_{[ik][jl]}, \qquad (D26)$$

where $\hat{Y}_{[ik][jl]}$ has symmetries of the Riemann tensor, i.e., is a field antisymmetric in ik and in jl and symmetric under the exchange of these two groups of indices. For *c*-number tensor fields, i.e., smooth mappings $\mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}$, this follows by using the Poincaré lemma twice, together with the (anti)symmetry of the involved fields (see Exercise 5 of Chap. 4 in [88]).³² One could worry that perhaps \hat{Y} is a nonlocal function of the fields [e.g., [90], Eq. (4.7) and below]. However, this worry is unfounded. The point is that the Poincaré lemma remains valid in the space of local field, a fact known as "algebraic Poincaré lemma" (see [91], Theorem 4.2). Hence, the same argument shows that $\hat{Y}_{[ik][jl]}$ is a local field, i.e., can be built out of products of U, ϕ_i and their derivatives.

We can check this explicitly for our dipolar model. We can make the most general ansatz for \hat{R}_{ij} consisting of all ranktwo symmetric operators of 4D dimension $\Delta_{4D} = 4$ being \mathbb{Z}_2 even and shift invariant. Requiring conservation, we find that $\hat{Y}_{[ik][jl]}$ is a linear combination of two building blocks

$$(\delta_{il}\delta_{jk} - \delta_{ij}\delta_{kl})\phi^2$$
, $\delta_{il}\Phi_{jk} \pm (3 \text{ permutations})$, (D27)

and it is indeed local.

An important consequence of Eq. (D26) is that all divergent contributions to the bare stress tensor must contain two total derivatives. Since the p term in (D21) contains only one total derivative, its coefficient p must be finite.

4. Building scaling operators

Up to now, we have explained how to obtain a finite stress tensor and virial current. We now show how to make them good scaling operators. For the sake of clarity, in this section we drop square brackets around renormalized operators, e.g., $[T_{ij}] \rightarrow T_{ij}$, although all operators are finite.

The argument to make the stress tensor a scaling operator is well known [14,19,21]. One starts from the most general form of the commutation of the dilatation operator D and the stress tensor:

$$[D, T_{ij}] = x_m \partial_m T_{ij} + d T_{ij} + y_a \partial_k \partial_l Y^a_{ik\,il} \,. \tag{D28}$$

Here Y_{ikjl}^a is a complete set of operators with the symmetries of the Riemann tensor (excluding operators such that $\partial_k \partial_l Y_{ikjl} = 0$) such that $\partial_k \partial_l Y_{ikjl}$ can mix with the stress tensor. In perturbation theory these are operators of 4D scaling dimension 2.

The operators Y_{ikjl} themselves generically mix under dilatation

$$\left[D, Y_{ikjl}^{a}\right] = x_{m} \partial_{m} Y_{ikjl}^{a} + \Delta_{ab} Y_{ikjl}^{b} .$$
 (D29)

³²It is also a partial case of the (dualized) generalized Poincaré lemma for mixed-symmetry tensors [see [89], Eq. (7)].

With this information in mind, we can perform a finite improvement³³

$$T_{ij} \to T_{ij} + y^a (d - 2 - \Delta)^{-1}_{ab} \partial_k \partial_l Y^b_{ikjl}, \qquad (D30)$$

such that the new stress tensor is a good scaling operator or, in other words,

$$[D, T_{ij}] = x_m \partial_m T_{ij} + d T_{ij}.$$
 (D31)

The only caveat is that improvement (D30) is valid provided the matrix Δ_{ab} does not have any eigenvalue $\Delta = d - 2$. In our theory, there are two candidate improvements (D27). The dimension Δ_{ϕ^2} is known at two loops [30], while we computed $\Delta_{\Phi_{ij}}$ at one loop using conformal perturbation theory

$$\Delta_{\phi^2} = 2 - \frac{8\varepsilon}{17} + \frac{1441\varepsilon^2}{14739} + O(\varepsilon^3),$$

$$\Delta_{\Phi_{ij}} = 2 - \frac{44\varepsilon}{51} + O(\varepsilon^2).$$
 (D32)

Since neither dimension is exactly d - 2, we can always improve T_{ij} to be a good scaling operator.

Let us imagine we already performed improvement (D30). Then taking the trace of (D31) gives the most general consistent commutation relation for the virial current³⁴

$$[D, V_i] = x_m \partial_m V_i + (d-1)V_i + w_a \partial_j A^a_{ij}.$$
(D33)

Here $A_{ij}^a = -A_{ji}^a$ is a basis of antisymmetric operators. As before, the basis behaves under dilations as

$$\left[D, A_{ij}^a\right] = x_m \partial_m A_{ij}^a + \widehat{\Delta}_{ab} A_{ij}^b \,. \tag{D34}$$

With this information, we can make V_i a good scaling operator using the freedom to transform V_i in a way that preserves $T_{ii} = -\partial_i V_i$. The right improvement is

$$V_i \to V_i + w^a (d - 2 - \widehat{\Delta})^{-1}_{ab} \partial_j A^b_{ij} \,. \tag{D35}$$

In the case of the dipolar model, there is no candidate antisymmetric tensor A_{ij}^a with the right dimension, so the virial current improvement is unnecessary, and we do not need to discuss whether $\widehat{\Delta}_{ab}$ has eigenvalues d - 2. However, for other models this discussion might be necessary.

5. Summary

To wrap up the discussion, Appendixes D 2 and D 3 show that we can find a finite stress tensor $[T_{ij}]$ that generates the Poincaré symmetry charges. Furthermore, Appendix D 4 shows that it is possible to choose suitable improvements such that both $[T_{ij}]$ and $[V_i]$ are scaling operators, of dimensions d and d - 1. Combining the results, the trace of the stress tensor is

$$\delta_{ij}[T_{ij}] = \frac{\mu^{e}\beta(\lambda)}{4} [\phi^{4}] - (\Delta_{\phi} - 1)[\phi_{i}E_{i}] - \Delta_{U}[UE] - \partial_{i}[V_{i}],$$
(D36)

$$[V_i] = \Delta_U[U\phi_i] + p[\phi_i E] + q\partial^2[\phi^2] + r\partial_i\partial_j[\Phi_{ij}].$$
(D37)

Recall that p, q, and r are not determined from our analysis, except they are finite constants. These operators have all the desired properties discussed in Sec. IV C. Indeed, the trace at the fixed point contains the virial current, and the virial current is mapped to $[\phi_i]$ under shift symmetry:

$$\delta_{ij}[T_{ij}]\big|_{\text{fixed point}} = -\partial_i[V_i] + \text{EOM}, \quad [[Q], [V_i]] \propto [\phi_i].$$
(D38)

As explained in Sec. IV C, the latter equation is responsible for explaining the "paradox" of why the virial current does not acquire anomalous dimension.

6. Scaling Ward identity

Although it is not strictly necessary for us, before concluding the Appendix we derive the Ward identity for scale invariance. We construct the scale current $D_i = x^j[T_{ij}] + [V_i]$, which satisfies the conservation equation

$$\partial_{i}D_{i} = \delta^{ij}[T_{ij}] + \partial_{i}[V_{i}] + x^{j}\partial_{i}[T_{ij}]$$
(D39)
$$= \frac{\mu^{\varepsilon}\beta(\lambda)}{4}[\phi^{4}] - E_{i}(\Delta_{\phi} + x^{j}\partial_{j})\phi_{i}$$
$$-E(\Delta_{U} + x^{j}\partial_{j})U + \partial_{i}(E_{i}x^{j}\phi_{j}).$$
(D40)

The last total-derivative term, which was generated by integrating by parts, does not contribute to the Ward identities, which follow from

$$\int d^d x \, G_{N,M}(x_1, \dots, x_N; y_1, \dots, y_M; \partial_i D_i(x)) = 0. \quad (D41)$$

This is evaluated by recalling that the EOM acts in correlation functions as

$$\left\langle \frac{\delta \tilde{\mathcal{H}}}{\delta \mathcal{O}(x)} \mathcal{O}_1(x_1) \dots \mathcal{O}_n(x_n) \right\rangle$$
$$= \sum_{i=1}^n \left\langle \mathcal{O}_1(x_1) \dots \frac{\delta \mathcal{O}_i(x_i)}{\delta \mathcal{O}(x)} \dots \mathcal{O}_n(x_n) \right\rangle, \qquad (D42)$$

where O is either of ϕ_i or U. At the end of the day, we find the expected scaling Ward identity

$$\begin{bmatrix} \sum_{a=1}^{n} \left(x_{a}^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial x_{a}^{i}} + \Delta_{\phi} \right) + \sum_{b=1}^{m} \left(y_{b}^{i} \frac{\partial}{\partial y_{b}^{i}} + \Delta_{U} \right) \end{bmatrix} G_{N,M}$$
$$= \frac{\mu^{\varepsilon} \beta(\lambda)}{4} \int d^{d}x \, G_{N,M}([\phi^{4}](x)) \,. \tag{D43}$$

For compactness we dropped the arguments x_a^i and y_b^i on the correlators $G_{N,M}$.

³³Reference [19] has a mistake in the sign before Δ in the following equation. The correct sign, here as in [14,21], requires changes in the subsequent argument.

³⁴In more general theories possessing conserved global symmetry currents of dimension d - 1, those could also appear in the right-hand side. Then, one may not be able to define a good scaling virial current operator. Physically, this would be the effect of mixing between scale transformation and the global symmetry transformation under the RG flow. In our dipolar model, there are no conserved global symmetry currents of dimension d - 1, the only conserved current being the shift-symmetry current ϕ_i , which cannot appear in the right-hand side because of the \mathbb{Z}_2 symmetry and because it does not have the right classical dimension.

- M. E. Fisher and A. Aharony, Dipolar interactions at ferromagnetic critical points, Phys. Rev. Lett. 30, 559 (1973).
- [2] A. Aharony and M. E. Fisher, Critical behavior of magnets with dipolar interactions. I. Renormalization group near four dimensions, Phys. Rev. B 8, 3323 (1973).
- [3] A. Aharony, Critical behavior of magnets with dipolar interactions. ii. feynman-graph expansion for ferromagnets near four dimensions, Phys. Rev. B 8, 3342 (1973).
- [4] A. Aharony, 50 years of correlations with Michael Fisher and the renormalization group, arXiv:2305.13940.
- [5] J. Kötzler, D. Görlitz, F. Mezei, and B. Farago, Depression of longitudinal fluctuations above *T_c* of Heisenberg ferromagnets observed by polarized neutrons, Europhys. Lett. 1, 675 (1986).
- [6] S. Rychkov, Numerical conformal bootstrap: Targets, Talk at the Simons Collaboration on the Nonperturbative Bootstrap Annual Meeting, Simons Foundation, New York, 2018, https: //www.simonsfoundation.org/event/simons-collaboration-onthe-nonperturbative-bootstrap-annual-meeting-2018/.
- [7] A. Mauri and M. I. Katsnelson, Scale without conformal invariance in membrane theory, Nucl. Phys. B 969, 115482 (2021).
- [8] Y. Nakayama, Interacting scale invariant but nonconformal field theories, Phys. Rev. D 95, 065016 (2017).
- [9] V. Riva and J. L. Cardy, Scale and conformal invariance in field theory: A Physical counterexample, Phys. Lett. B 622, 339 (2005).
- [10] R. Jackiw and S. Y. Pi, Tutorial on scale and conformal symmetries in diverse dimensions, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. 44, 223001 (2011).
- [11] S. El-Showk, Y. Nakayama, and S. Rychkov, What Maxwell Theory in $D \neq 4$ teaches us about scale and conformal invariance, Nucl. Phys. B **848**, 578 (2011).
- [12] Y. Nakayama, Forbidden landscape from holography, J. High Energy Phys. 11 (2009) 061.
- [13] Y. Nakayama, Holographic renormalization of foliation preserving gravity and trace anomaly, Gen. Rel. Grav. 44, 2873 (2012).
- [14] Y. Nakayama, Scale invariance vs conformal invariance, Phys. Rep. 569, 1 (2015).
- [15] Y. Nakayama, Euclidean M-theory background dual to a threedimensional scale-invariant field theory without conformal invariance, Phys. Rev. D 95, 046006 (2017).
- [16] Y.-Z. Li, H. Lu, and H.-Y. Zhang, Scale invariance vs. conformal invariance: Holographic two-point functions in horndeski gravity, Eur. Phys. J. C 79, 592 (2019).
- [17] S. Rychkov, *EPFL Lectures on Conformal Field Theory in* $D \ge 3$ *Dimensions*, Springer Briefs in Physics (Springer, Cham, 2016).
- [18] Y. Nakayama, ERG approaches to physical example of scale but non-conformal field theory, Talk at ERG 2020 (2020), https: //www2.yukawa.kyoto-u.ac.jp/~erg2020/ERG2020.html.
- [19] J. Polchinski, Scale and conformal invariance in quantum field theory, Nucl. Phys. B 303, 226 (1988).
- [20] D. Dorigoni and V. S. Rychkov, Scale invariance + unitarity => conformal invariance? arXiv:0910.1087.
- [21] A. Dymarsky, Z. Komargodski, A. Schwimmer, and S. Theisen, On scale and conformal invariance in four dimensions, J. High Energy Phys. 10 (2015) 171.
- [22] K. G. Wilson and J. B. Kogut, The Renormalization group and the epsilon expansion, Phys. Rep. 12, 75 (1974).

- [23] A. Pelissetto and E. Vicari, Critical phenomena and renormalization group theory, Phys. Rep. 368, 549 (2002).
- [24] J. Henriksson, The critical O(N) CFT: Methods and conformal data, Phys. Rep. 1002, 1 (2023).
- [25] F. Kos, D. Poland, and D. Simmons-Duffin, Bootstrapping the O(N) vector models, J. High Energy Phys. 06 (2014) 91.
- [26] F. Kos, D. Poland, D. Simmons-Duffin, and A. Vichi, Bootstrapping the O(N) Archipelago, J. High Energy Phys. 11 (2015) 106.
- [27] F. Kos, D. Poland, D. Simmons-Duffin, and A. Vichi, Precision islands in the ising and O(N) models, J. High Energy Phys. 08 (2016) 036.
- [28] S. M. Chester, W. Landry, J. Liu, D. Poland, D. Simmons-Duffin, N. Su, and A. Vichi, Bootstrapping Heisenberg magnets and their cubic instability, Phys. Rev. D 104, 105013 (2021).
- [29] M. Hasenbusch, Monte Carlo study of a generalized icosahedral model on the simple cubic lattice, Phys. Rev. B 102, 024406 (2020).
- [30] A. Aharony, Dependence of universal critical behavior on symmetry and range of interaction, in *Phase Transitions and Critical Phenomena*, edited by C. Domb and M. Green (Academic, New York, 1976), Vol. 6, pp. 358–424.
- [31] A. Kudlis and A. Pikelner, Critical behavior of isotropic systems with strong dipole-dipole interaction: Three-loop study, Nucl. Phys. B 985, 115990 (2022).
- [32] M. Hasenbusch, Cubic fixed point in three dimensions: Monte Carlo simulations of the ϕ^4 model on the simple cubic lattice, Phys. Rev. B **107**, 024409 (2023).
- [33] J. Kötzler, Dipolar interactions in the critical dynamics of Heisenberg ferromagnets, Phys. Rev. Lett. 51, 833 (1983).
- [34] J. Kübler, *Theory of Itinerant Electron Magnetism* (Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2021).
- [35] A. Azzam and O. Meyer, Change from diverging to finite susceptibility below T_c of the Heisenberg ferromagnet EuS, Phys. Rev. B **34**, 5 (1986).
- [36] J. E. Noakes, N. E. Tornberg, and A. Arrott, Initial susceptibility of iron and iron alloys just above their curie temperatures, J. Appl. Phys. 37, 1264 (1966).
- [37] M. Seeger, S. N. Kaul, H. Kronmüller, and R. Reisser, Asymptotic critical behavior of Ni, Phys. Rev. B 51, 12585 (1995).
- [38] J. Als-Nielsen, O. W. Dietrich, and L. Passell, Neutron scattering from the Heisenberg ferromagnets EuO and EuS. II. Static critical properties, Phys. Rev. B 14, 4908 (1976).
- [39] A. D. Bruce, J. M. Kosterlitz, and D. R. Nelson, Crossover phenomena in isotropic dipolar ferromagnets, J. Phys. C: Solid State Phys. 9, 825 (1976).
- [40] A. D. Bruce, Susceptibility crossover in dipolar ferromagnets, J. Phys. C: Solid State Phys. 10, 419 (1977).
- [41] S. Srinath, S. N. Kaul, and M.-K. Sostarich, Isotropic-Heisenberg to isotropic-dipolar crossover in amorphous ferromagnets with composition near the percolation threshold, Phys. Rev. B 62, 11649 (2000).
- [42] S. Srinath and S. N. Kaul, Evidence for dipolar effects in re-entrant amorphous ferromagnets, Europhys. Lett. 51, 441 (2000).
- [43] S. N. Kaul, Phase transitions and finite temperature magnetism: Experiment and analysis, in *Handbook of Magnetism* and Advanced Magnetic Materials, Volume 1: Fundamentals and Theory, edited by H. Kronmüller and S. Parkin (Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, 2007).

- [44] C. Hohenemser, N. Rosov, and A. Kleinhammes, Critical phenomena studied via nuclear techniques, Hyperfine Interact. 49, 267 (1989).
- [45] M. A. Luty, J. Polchinski, and R. Rattazzi, The *a*-theorem and the asymptotics of 4d quantum field theory, J. High Energy Phys. 01 (2013) 152.
- [46] A. Dymarsky, K. Farnsworth, Z. Komargodski, M. A. Luty, and V. Prilepina, Scale invariance, conformality, and generalized free fields, J. High Energy Phys. 02 (2016) 099.
- [47] H. Georgi, Unparticle physics, Phys. Rev. Lett. 98, 221601 (2007).
- [48] B. Grinstein, K. A. Intriligator, and I. Z. Rothstein, Comments on Unparticles, Phys. Lett. B 662, 367 (2008).
- [49] S. Giombi, I. R. Klebanov, and G. Tarnopolsky, Conformal QED_d, *F*-Theorem and the ε Expansion, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor. **49**, 135403 (2016).
- [50] S. M. Chester and S. S. Pufu, Anomalous dimensions of scalar operators in QED₃, J. High Energy Phys. 08 (2016) 069.
- [51] W. E. Caswell, Asymptotic behavior of nonabelian gauge theories to two loop order, Phys. Rev. Lett. **33**, 244 (1974).
- [52] J. C. Collins, A. Duncan, and S. D. Joglekar, Trace and dilatation anomalies in gauge theories, Phys. Rev. D 16, 438 (1977).
- [53] V. M. Braun, A. N. Manashov, S. O. Moch, and M. Strohmaier, Conformal symmetry of QCD in *d*-dimensions, Phys. Lett. B 793, 78 (2019).
- [54] J. A. Aronovitz and T. C. Lubensky, Fluctuations of solid membranes, Phys. Rev. Lett. 60, 2634 (1988).
- [55] A. Mauri, Fluctuating membranes: Renormalization group approaches to freestanding two-dimensional materials, Ph.D. thesis, Radboud University, 2022, https://repository.ubn.ru.nl/ handle/2066/283338
- [56] K. Wiese (private communication).
- [57] K. J. Wiese, Theory and experiments for disordered elastic manifolds, depinning, avalanches, and sandpiles, Rep. Prog. Phys. 85, 086502 (2022).
- [58] A. Kaviraj, S. Rychkov, and E. Trevisani, Random field Ising model and Parisi-Sourlas supersymmetry. Part II. Renormalization group, J. High Energy Phys. 03 (2021) 219.
- [59] J. L. Cardy and R. L. Sugar, Directed percolation and reggeon field theory, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. 13, L423 (1980).
- [60] O. Narayan and D. S. Fisher, Critical behavior of sliding chargedensity waves in 4-ε dimensions, Phys. Rev. B 46, 11520 (1992).
- [61] P. Le Doussal, K. J. Wiese, and P. Chauve, Two-loop functional renormalization group theory of the depinning transition, Phys. Rev. B 66, 174201 (2002).
- [62] P. Chauve, T. Giamarchi, and P. Le Doussal, Creep and depinning in disordered media, Phys. Rev. B 62, 6241 (2000).
- [63] I. Balog, G. Tarjus, and M. Tissier, Benchmarking the nonperturbative functional renormalization group approach on the random elastic manifold model in and out of equilibrium, J. Stat. Mech. (2019) 103301.
- [64] A. Mauri and M. I. Katsnelson, Scaling behavior of crystalline membranes: An ε -expansion approach, Nucl. Phys. B **956**, 115040 (2020).
- [65] Y. Nakayama, Conformal equations that are not Virasoro or Weyl invariant, Lett. Math. Phys. 109, 2255 (2019).

- [66] T. Griffin, K. T. Grosvenor, P. Horava, and Z. Yan, Scalar field theories with polynomial shift symmetries, Commun. Math. Phys. 340, 985 (2015).
- [67] A. Nicolis, R. Rattazzi, and E. Trincherini, The Galileon as a local modification of gravity, Phys. Rev. D 79, 064036 (2009).
- [68] P. Gorantla, H. T. Lam, N. Seiberg, and S.-H. Shao, Global dipole symmetry, compact Lifshitz theory, tensor gauge theory, and fractons, Phys. Rev. B 106, 045112 (2022).
- [69] L. Dolan, C. R. Nappi, and E. Witten, Conformal operators for partially massless states, J. High Energy Phys. 10 (2001) 016.
- [70] M. Safari, A. Stergiou, G. P. Vacca, and O. Zanusso, Scale and conformal invariance in higher derivative shift symmetric theories, J. High Energy Phys. 02 (2022) 034.
- [71] L. Delzescaux, C. Duclut, D. Mouhanna, and M. Tissier, Lagrange multiplier field approach to shift-symmetric theories: the φ^4 derivative theory and the crumpled-to-flat transition of membranes at two-loop order, Phys. Rev. D 108, L081702 (2023).
- [72] D. Poland, S. Rychkov, and A. Vichi, The conformal bootstrap: Theory, numerical techniques, and applications, Rev. Mod. Phys. 91, 015002 (2019).
- [73] F. Gliozzi, More constraining conformal bootstrap, Phys. Rev. Lett. 111, 161602 (2013).
- [74] R. Rattazzi, V. S. Rychkov, E. Tonni, and A. Vichi, Bounding scalar operator dimensions in 4D CFT, J. High Energy Phys. 12 (2008) 031.
- [75] J. A. Stratton, *Electromagnetic Theory* (Wiley, Hoboken, NJ, 2007), Vol. 33.
- [76] L. Landau, E. Lifshitz, and L. Pitaevskii, *Electrodynamics of Continuous Media* (Elsevier, Amsterdam, 2013), Vol. 8.
- [77] E. C. Stoner, The demagnetizing factors for ellipsoids, London, Edinburgh, Dublin Philos. Mag., J. Sci. 36, 803 (1945).
- [78] J. A. Osborn, Demagnetizing factors of the general ellipsoid, Phys. Rev. 67, 351 (1945).
- [79] J. D. Jackson, *Classical Electrodynamics*, 2nd ed. (Wiley New York, 1977), Secs. 5.8, 5.9.
- [80] C.-C. Huang and J. T. Ho, Faraday rotation near the Curie point of EuO, Phys. Rev. B 12, 5255 (1975).
- [81] D. Bally, M. Popovici, M. Totia, B. Grabcev, and A. Lungu, Evidence for Fischer's correlation functions in Iron from critical neutron scattering, Phys. Lett. A 26, 396 (1968).
- [82] L. Passell, K. Blinowski, T. Brun, and P. Nielsen, Critical magnetic scattering of neutrons in iron, Phys. Rev. 139, A1866 (1965).
- [83] S. Spooner and B. L. Averbach, Spin correlations in iron, Phys. Rev. 142, 291 (1966).
- [84] R. Anders and K. Stierstadt, Experimental determination of the critical exponent η for nickel, Solid State Commun. **39**, 185 (1981).
- [85] M. Fisher, Scaling, universality and renormalization group theory, in *Critical Phenomena*, *VII*, edited by F. Hahne (Springer, Berlin, 1982), pp. 1–139.
- [86] K. G. Wilson, Renormalization group and critical phenomena. 2. Phase space cell analysis of critical behavior, Phys. Rev. B 4, 3184 (1971).
- [87] L. S. Brown, Dimensional regularization of composite operators in scalar field theory, Ann. Phys. **126**, 135 (1980).

- [88] R. M. Wald, *General Relativity* (University Of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1984).
- [89] M. Dubois-Violette and M. Henneaux, Generalized cohomology for irreducible tensor fields of mixed Young symmetry type, Lett. Math. Phys. 49, 245 (1999).
- [90] R. M. Wald, Spin-two fields and general covariance, Phys. Rev. D 33, 3613 (1986).
- [91] G. Barnich, F. Brandt, and M. Henneaux, Local BRST cohomology in gauge theories, Phys. Rep. 338, 439 (2000).